

LUND UNIVERSITY

Detecting prostate cancer metastases - PET/CT and the sentinel node technique

Kjölhede, Henrik

2014

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Kjölhede, H. (2014). Detecting prostate cancer metastases - PET/CT and the sentinel node technique. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Urological cancer, Malmö]. Division of Urological Cancers.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

(Spikblad)

Detecting prostate cancer metastases

PET/CT and the sentinel node technique

Henrik Kjölhede, M.D.

DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Lilla Aulan, Konferenscentrum, SUS Malmö. 21 November 2014 13.00.

> Faculty opponent Professor Sten Nilsson Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology-Pathology

Organizat	ion	Document name		
LUND UNIVERSITY		DOCTORAL DISSERTATION		
Faculty of Medicine		Date of issue		
Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö		21 November 2014		
Author(s): Henrik Kjölhede		Sponsoring organization		
Title and	subtitle: Detecting prostate cancer metastases – P			
Abstract				
Prostate cancer is one of the most common malignancies. Its treatment is highly dependent on the presence or absence of metastases. The available invasive and non-invasive modalities for detecting metastases are imperfect. Positron-emission tomography fused with computed tomography (PET/CT) is a non-invasive method for detecting metastases that is presently evaluated for prostate cancer. Fluoride and choline are PET/CT tracers with different properties; fluoride detects bone metastases only, while choline may detect metastases in bone, lymph nodes, and other organs. Sentinel node (SN) detection is an invasive method that allows selective dissection of the lymph nodes most likely to contain metastases. The SN technique may increase the detection rate by identifying metastases also outside the template of a standard lymphadenectomy. The clinical implications of the combination of choline and fluoride PET/CT were prospectively evaluated in Study II. The clinical implications of early choline PET/CT in patients with biochemical recurrence (BCR) after radical prostatectomy (RP) was evaluated in Study III. SN detection was prospectively evaluated and compared with ePLND in Study IV.				
The main	results were:			
1)				
2)	 Choline PET/CT had a high specificity (0.98) but, depending on the cut-off value of tracer uptake, had a low sensitivity (0.21–0.46) for lymph node metastases. 			
3)	 Choline PET/CT indicated metastases in 28% of hormone-naïve patients with BCR after RP and prostate- specific antigen of less than 2 ng/mL. 			
4)	4) SN detection performed at least equal to ePLND in determining lymph node stage, with sensitivity 0.96.			
Conclusions: Choline and fluoride PET/CT and SN detection may be valuable diagnostic modalities for detecting metastases of prostate cancer.				
Key words: Prostate cancer; Metastases; PET/CT; Choline; Fluoride; Sentinel lymph nodes				
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)				
Supplementary bibliographical information			Language: English	
ISSN and	key title		ISBN	
1652-8220			978-91-7619-057-9	
Recipient	's notes	Number of pages: 78	Price	
		Security classification	J	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature	Date

Detecting prostate cancer metastases

PET/CT and the sentinel node technique

Henrik Kjölhede, M.D.

Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö Faculty of Medicine

Cover: Maximum intensity projection (MIP) rendering of the fusion images of a fluoride (left) and choline (right) PET/CT scan, both of the same patient.

Copyright © 2014 Henrik Kjölhede

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö ISBN 978-91-7619-057-9 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2014



To my beloved wife and children

Contents

Abbreviations	1
List of studies	3
Introduction	5
Prostate cancer overview	5
Localised prostate cancer	8
Metastatic prostate cancer	13
Modalities for detecting metastases	15
Specific background to our studies	25
Aims	27
Materials and methods	29
Patients	29
PET/CT	30
Lymphadenectomy and sentinel node detection	31
Statistics	32
Ethical approval	32
Additional analyses	32
Results and comments	35
Primary staging	35
Restaging after recurrence	46
General discussion	53
Conclusions	57
Future perspectives	59
Summary in Swedish	61
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	61
Acknowledgements	63
References	64

Abbreviations

ADT	Androgen deprivation therapy
ASTRO	American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology
BCR	Biochemical recurrence
CSM	Cancer-specific mortality
СТ	Computed tomography
DRE	Digital rectal exam
EAU	European Association of Urology
ECOG	Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group
EORTC	European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer
EPC	Early Prostate Cancer trial
ePLND	Extended pelvic lymph node dissection
FDG	Fluorodeoxyglucose
HT	Hormonal therapy
IPLND	Limited pelvic lymph node dissection
MDP	Methylene diphosphonate
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NPCR	National Prostate Cancer Registry
NPV	Negative predictive value
PET/CT	Positron emission tomography fused with computed tomography
PPV	Positive predictive value
RP	Radical prostatectomy
RT	Radiation therapy
SN	Sentinel node
SPCG	Scandinavian Prostate Cancer Group
SPECT	Single-photon emission computed tomography
SUV	Specific uptake value
TRUS	Trans-rectal ultrasound
UICC	Union for International Cancer Control

List of studies

- I. Kjölhede H, Ahlgren G, Almquist H, Liedberg F, Lyttkens K, Ohlsson T, Bratt O. Combined ¹⁸F-fluorocholine and ¹⁸F-fluoride positron emission tomography/computed tomography imaging for staging of high-risk prostate cancer. *BJU International* 2012, 110(10), 1501-1506. Reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons.
- II. Kjölhede H, Ahlgren G, Almquist H, Liedberg F, Lyttkens K, Ohlsson T, Bratt O. ¹⁸F-fluorocholine PET/CT compared with extended pelvic lymph node dissection in high-risk prostate cancer. *World Journal of Urology* 2014, 32(4), 965-970. Reprinted with permission from Springer.
- III. Kjölhede H, Ahlgren G, Almquist H, Liedberg F, Lyttkens K, Ohlsson T, Bratt O. ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT for early detection of metastases in biochemical recurrence following radical prostatectomy. In manuscript.
- IV. Kjölhede H, Bratt O, Gudjonsson S, Sundqvist P, Liedberg F. Simplified intraoperative sentinel node detection performed by the urologist accurately determines lymph node stage in prostate cancer. Accepted for publication. *Scandinavian Journal of Urology*.

Introduction

Prostate cancer overview

Demographics

Prostate cancer is one of the most common malignancies worldwide. For American men, the life-time risk of being diagnosed with prostate cancer is around 15%, which means that about one in every six to seven men will at one point be diagnosed with this malignancy [1]. In Sweden, the cumulative risk is 11.8% by the age of 75 years [2]. However, the life-time risk of dying from prostate cancer is only about 3–5%, which means that most men diagnosed with prostate cancer will die of other causes than their prostate cancer [3,4]. Five-year relative survival in Europe increased from 73.4% in 1999 to 81.7% in 2007 [5]. There are probably several explanations for this improvement in survival, such as better treatment and earlier diagnosis. The incidence of prostate cancer is strongly correlated with age: the highest incidence rates are noted in the age group 65–75 years, very few cases are diagnosed before the age of 45 [1,6].

Cancer biology

Ninety-five percent of prostate cancers are adenocarcinomas, and examples of more unusual types are neuroendocrine cancers and small cell carcinomas [7]. The most widely used histological classification of prostate adenocarcinomas was described by Donald F. Gleason in 1966 [8]. A slightly modified version of that system is used today (Figure 1) [9]. Gleason grading is based on the histological appearance of the cancer, with grade 1 being the most similar to normal prostate tissue and grade 5 being the most abnormal. In Gleason's original classification, the two grades that constitute the largest parts of the examined material were added to form a score, for example 3 + 3 = 6 or 4 + 5 = 9. In the latest modification, any occurrence of high-grade cancer in needle biopsy material, even if less common, was included to form the score. Also, the use of Gleason grade 1 was essentially discontinued, and grade 2 should be used only very sparingly, and not at all for biopsy material. This basically limited the applicable scores to 6 to 10, with 6 being interpreted as well differentiated (low-grade) and 8–10 as poorly differentiated (high-grade).



Figure 1.

Illustration of the patterns of the modified Gleason grades [9]. Reprinted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health.

Our understanding of the natural progression of prostate cancer was greatly advanced in 1941 when Huggins and colleagues found that growth of this malignancy depended on testosterone and other androgens, and thus could be treated by castration [10]. Huggins was awarded the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine in 1966 for this discovery, and later research has confirmed the role of the androgen receptor in progression of prostate cancer. When activated by circulating androgens, the androgen receptor acts as a factor that induces transcription of a variety of genes that promote cell growth and division. In prostate cancer, particularly in later stages of the disease, the function of the androgen receptor is frequently affected by mutations, either indirectly through up-regulation or directly resulting in activation even in the absence of androgens [11].

Cancer markers

Among other actions, the androgen receptor controls the expression of a protein that is excreted in the seminal fluid and is instrumental in dissolution of seminal coagulum. This protein was discovered by Wang et al in 1979, and it was determined to be specific to the prostate and was therefore given the name prostate-specific antigen (PSA) [12]. Catalona et al later evaluated the usefulness of PSA in early detection of prostate cancer and found that prevalence of the disease increased with increasing PSA levels and that extra-prostatic spread was more likely with more elevated PSA levels [13]. Subsequent research demonstrated a statistically significant association between PSA level and the risk of detecting prostate cancer, especially high-risk prostate cancer [14]. Later it was shown that the PSA level in middle-aged men predicts the risk of metastatic and lethal prostate cancer later in life [15].

Staging

Staging of prostate cancer is usually done according to the TNM system, outlined by the Union for International Cancer Control (UICC), the latest (7th) edition of which was published in 2009 [16]. The three letters TNM in the name of the system stand for tumour, nodes, and metastasis (Table 1).

Table 1.

Description of the TNM classification of prostate cancer [16]. A prefix "c" denotes clinical stage, and the prefix "p" indicates pathological stage (*e.g.*, cT2a or pT3b). Pathological stage is determined from histological specimens, either biopsies or prostatectomy specimens. The TNM stage represents a combination of the tumour, node, and metastasis stages (*e.g.*, T3bN1M0).

TxPrimary tumour cannot be assessedT0No primary tumour detectedT1Tumour not clinically apparent, neither by palpation nor imagingT1aIncidental finding in $\leq 5\%$ of material from resectionT1bIncidental finding in $> 5\%$ of material from resectionT1cIdentified by needle biopsyT2Tumour confined within prostateT2aTumour involves \leq half of one lobeT2bTumour involves $>$ half of one lobe but not bothT2cTumour involves $>$ both lobesT3Tumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1cOther sites (such as visceral metastases)			
T1Tumour not clinically apparent, neither by palpation nor imagingT1aIncidental finding in $\leq 5\%$ of material from resectionT1bIncidental finding in > 5% of material from resectionT1cIdentified by needle biopsyT2Tumour confined within prostateT2aTumour involves \leq half of one lobeT2bTumour involves > half of one lobe but not bothT2cTumour involves both lobesT3Tumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph node metastasisN1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	Tx	Primary tumour cannot be assessed	
T1aIncidental finding in $\leq 5\%$ of material from resectionT1bIncidental finding in > 5% of material from resectionT1cIdentified by needle biopsyT2Tumour confined within prostateT2aTumour involves \leq half of one lobeT2bTumour involves > half of one lobe but not bothT2cTumour involves > half of one lobe but not bothT2cTumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph node metastasisN1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T0	No primary tumour detected	
T1bIncidental finding in > 5% of material from resectionT1cIdentified by needle biopsyT2Tumour confined within prostateT2aTumour involves ≤ half of one lobeT2bTumour involves > half of one lobe but not bothT2cTumour involves both lobesT3Tumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph node metastasisN1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T1	Tumour not clinically apparent, neither by palpation nor imaging	
T1cIdentified by needle biopsyT2Tumour confined within prostateT2aTumour involves ≤ half of one lobeT2bTumour involves > half of one lobe but not bothT2cTumour involves both lobesT3Tumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph nodes have not been assessedN0No regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T1a	Incidental finding in \leq 5% of material from resection	
T2Tumour confined within prostateT2aTumour involves ≤ half of one lobeT2bTumour involves > half of one lobe but not bothT2cTumour involves both lobesT3Tumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph nodes have not been assessedN0No regional lymph node metastasisM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T1b	Incidental finding in $> 5\%$ of material from resection	
T2aTumour involves ≤ half of one lobeT2bTumour involves > half of one lobe but not bothT2cTumour involves both lobesT3Tumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph nodes have not been assessedN0No regional lymph node metastasisM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T1c	Identified by needle biopsy	
T2bTumour involves > half of one lobe but not bothT2cTumour involves both lobesT3Tumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph nodes have not been assessedN0No regional lymph node metastasisM1Regional lymph node metastasisM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T2	Tumour confined within prostate	
T2cTumour involves both lobesT3Tumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph nodes have not been assessedN0No regional lymph node metastasisN1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T2a	Tumour involves \leq half of one lobe	
T3Tumour extends through the prostatic capsuleT3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph nodes have not been assessedN0No regional lymph node metastasisN1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T2b	Tumour involves > half of one lobe but not both	
T3aExtracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvementT3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph nodes have not been assessedN0No regional lymph node metastasisN1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T2c	Tumour involves both lobes	
T3bSeminal vesicle invasionT4Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesiclesNxRegional lymph nodes have not been assessedN0No regional lymph node metastasisN1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	Т3	Tumour extends through the prostatic capsule	
T4 Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesicles Nx Regional lymph nodes have not been assessed N0 No regional lymph node metastasis N1 Regional lymph node metastasis M0 No distant metastases M1 Distant metastases M1a Non-regional lymph nodes M1b Skeletal metastases	T3a	Extracapsular extension, including microscopic bladder neck involvement	
NxRegional lymph nodes have not been assessedN0No regional lymph node metastasisN1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T3b	Seminal vesicle invasion	
N0No regional lymph node metastasisN1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	T4	Tumour is fixed or invades adjacent structures other than seminal vesicles	
N1Regional lymph node metastasisM0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	Nx	Regional lymph nodes have not been assessed	
M0No distant metastasesM1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	N0	No regional lymph node metastasis	
M1Distant metastasesM1aNon-regional lymph nodesM1bSkeletal metastases	N1	Regional lymph node metastasis	
M1a Non-regional lymph nodes M1b Skeletal metastases	M0	No distant metastases	
M1b Skeletal metastases	M1	Distant metastases	
	M1a	Non-regional lymph nodes	
M1c Other sites (such as visceral metastases)	M1b	Skeletal metastases	
	M1c	Other sites (such as visceral metastases)	

The T stage indicates the local extent of the tumour, with the most important distinction being between T2 and T3, thus considering organ-confined versus nonorgan-confined growth. The reference standard for local staging of prostate cancer is the combination of digital rectal exam (DRE) and trans-rectal ultrasound (TRUS). Varenhorst et al (1993) showed that DRE has a high inter-observer reliability, but only the posterior part of the prostate can be examined, and thus it is not possible to evaluate extraprostatic extensions in other directions [17]. TRUS is better at visualising all parts of the prostate cancer and noted that it under-staged a large proportion of T3 tumours [18]. In a later investigation, May et al (2001) found that the overall accuracy of TRUS in staging prostate cancer was only 63% in comparison with the histopathological examination of the prostatectomy specimens [19].

The N stage is defined by the presence or absence of regional lymph node metastases. Regional refers to being located within the true pelvis, that is, approximately below the aortic bifurcation.

The M stage denotes distant metastases, *i.e.* spread of the disease to non-regional lymph nodes or to other organs. Distant metastases in prostate cancer are most commonly located in the skeleton, usually in the axial skeleton such as the vertebrae. Less commonly, metastases occur in visceral organs, such as the liver or the lungs. Visceral metastases are frequently manifestations of more aggressive cancers associated with poor prognosis [20].

Localised prostate cancer

Risk groups

Prostate cancer without evidence of extraprostatic growth or metastases (*i.e.*, cT1-2, N0, M0) is considered localised. D'Amico et al (1998) described a system using T stage, PSA level, and biopsy Gleason score to classify localised prostate cancer into low-, intermediate- and high-risk disease (Table 2) [21]. In the original publication, the risk of biochemical recurrence (BCR) after curative treatment was reported: 5-year BCR-free survival was more than 80% for patients with low-risk cancer, but less than 30% for those with high-risk disease. In a validation study performed by Boorjian et al (2008) at the Mayo Clinic (Rochester, MD, USA), 7,591 patients previously treated with radical prostatectomy were assessed, with a mean follow-up time of 7.7 years. The hazard ratio was 3.3 (95% CI 2.9–3.7) for BCR in the patients with high-risk cancer compared to those with low-risk disease [22]. The risk of death from prostate cancer was 12 times higher (95% CI 5.9–22) for men

with high-risk than men for low-risk cancer, although the cancer-specific mortality (CSM) among the men with high-risk disease was only 1.5% after 5 years and 5% after 10 years.

Table 2.

Summary of the D'Amico risk groups of localised prostate cancer, adapted from the original publication [21].

Risk group	Criteria
Low	PSA < 10 ng/mL and
	Gleason score ≤ 6 and
	Clinical T stage \leq T2a
Intermediate	All patients not in the low-risk or high-risk
	groups
High	PSA > 20 ng/mL or
	Gleason score ≥ 8 or
	Clinical T stage T2c
Abbreviations: PSA, prostate-specific antigen.	

In the 2013 annual report of the Swedish National Prostate Cancer Registry (NPCR), which includes virtually all patients who are diagnosed with prostate cancer in Sweden, the cumulative CSM at 15 years from diagnosis, regardless of treatment, was 9% for the low-risk group and 35% for the high-risk group [6]. The CSM for the entire group of patients with metastases was 69%, with a median cancer-specific survival of approximately 4.5 years. There was a marked difference between age groups, with patients older than 75 years having a much higher competing-causes mortality. Even so, more than 30% of men with high-risk, non-metastatic prostate cancer, who were older than 75 years at diagnosis, died from their cancer.

Treatments with curative intent

Several curative treatment options are available for patients with localised prostate cancer. Radical prostatectomy (RP), which is the surgical removal of the entire prostate, can be performed either with open surgery, traditional laparoscopy, or with robot-assisted laparoscopy. RP was assessed in the Scandinavian Prostate Cancer Group (SPCG)-4 trial, in which 695 patients with localised prostate cancer were randomised to RP or watchful waiting (*i.e.*, no treatment until the onset of symptoms, when non-curative treatment is initiated) [23,24]. After 12 years of follow-up, CSM was 13% in the surgery group and 18% in the watchful waiting group, which was a statistically significant difference (p = 0.03). RP was also significantly associated with a 19% (95% CI 12–27) absolute reduction in the use of hormonal therapy and a 5.2% (95% CI 0.1–10) absolute reduction in the use other palliative treatment. After 18 years of follow-up, RP conferred a 12.7% (95% CI

5.1–20.3) absolute risk reduction of death from any cause, but this was only statistically significant for patients who were younger than 65 years. Interestingly, for men with high-risk cancer the only benefit of RP found in this investigation was less use of hormonal therapy.

Complications and side-effects of surgery are common. Most modern reports on surgical complications use the modified Clavien grading system, wherein the grades are based on the level of management required by the complications [25]. The most significant cut-off is between grade 2 complications, which can be managed by nonsurgical means, and grade 3 complications, which require surgical, endoscopic or radiological interventions. In a large retrospective analysis, Rabbani et al (2010) observed a 10% risk of Clavien grade 3 or higher surgical complications during the first 90 days following prostatectomy [26]. The investigators identified the following risk factors for Clavien grade 3 or higher surgical complications: the poor performance status of the patient, open surgery, high estimated blood loss, hypercoagulable disease, and high body mass index. Novara et al (2012) conducted a systematic review of complications after robot-assisted RP and noted a mean rate of Clavien grade 3 or higher complications of 2.4%, although the study may have under-estimated the long term complication risk (the length of follow-up was not stated) [27]. The functional outcomes, relating to erectile function and urinary continence, are highly dependent on how extensive the surgery is, which is in turn determined by the pre-operative cancer stage and grade. The experience of the surgeon and non-cancer-related patient factors such as age and co-morbidity also affect the functional outcome of surgery [28].

Radiation therapy (RT) of prostate cancer can be given either as brachytherapy or as external beam RT. The SPCG-7 trial was conducted to explore the effects of using external beam RT in addition to hormonal therapy, and randomised 875 patients with localised high-grade or locally advanced, non-metastatic prostate cancer to either hormone therapy alone or combined with radiotherapy [29]. After 10 years of follow-up the addition of RT conferred a 12% (95% CI 4.9–19) absolute risk reduction in CSM, as well as a 10% (95% CI 0.8–19) absolute risk reduction in overall mortality. The risk of BCR was reduced from 75% to 26% (p < 0.001). Although 78% of the patients had clinical stage T3 cancers, the CSM risk reduction was similar and also statistical significant for T1b-T2 high-grade cancers. Similar results were also found in a joint Canadian and British study (the NCIC CTG PR3/MRC UK PR07 trial) for locally advanced prostate cancer [30].

RT is also associated with complications and side effects, such as urinary urgency and incontinence, radiation proctitis, and erectile dysfunction [29,31,32]. Furthermore, RT to the prostate increases the risk of later being diagnosed with bladder cancer [33].

There are no reports from prospective randomised studies comparing the two curative treatment options, RP and RT, only retrospective outcome studies in which

the results mainly favour of RP [34,35]. The planned SPCG-15 trial, a randomised trial between RP and RT, will hopefully shed some light on this issue. However, only patients with locally advanced prostate cancer will be included in SPCG-15.

Treatments with non-curative intent

Hormonal therapy (HT) is based on Huggin's discovery that the progression of prostate cancer is, at least initially, dependent on androgens, such as testosterone. Early treatments were based on surgical castration, *i.e.* excision of the testes to stop testosterone production. Later advances led to medical castration, achieved by using either analogues or antagonists of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH). Either surgical or medical castration are jointly called androgen-deprivation therapy (ADT). Another approach to HT for prostate cancer is using anti-androgens that inhibit the androgen receptor. HT is not considered a curative treatment for prostate cancer, but may delay the progression of the disease and prolong survival [36].

HT is usually not used alone in the treatment of localised prostate cancer, but it is often used as an adjunct to RT, especially in high-risk disease [37]. Bolla et al (2002) studied RT combined with three years of ADT compared with RT alone in high-risk prostate cancer and found that overall mortality was significantly lower in the group that received the combination therapy (22% versus 38% after 5 years of follow-up) [38]. The 5-year CSM was 6% versus 21% (p = 0.0001). These observations were confirmed by Pilepich et al (2005) in an investigation using a similar protocol. Their study showed a 10-year overall mortality of 51% for treatment with RT followed by continuous ADT versus 61% for RT alone (p = 0.002) [39]. The 10-year CSM was 24% and 39%, respectively (p < 0.0001).

Short-term side effects of ADT are usually mild and include hot flushes, fatigue, and reduced libido. However, in the longer term there is an increased risk of osteoporosis and related fractures and prolonged HT has also been associated with onset of diabetes and coronary heart disease [40,41].

In the Early Prostate Cancer (EPC) trial patients with non-metastatic prostate cancer were randomised to receive an anti-androgen in addition to standard of care or to standard of care alone [42]. After a median of 9.7 years of follow-up, the addition of anti-androgen was associated with improved progression-free survival in patients with T3 cancer, but provided no benefit in overall survival. In the subgroup of patients with T3 cancer undergoing RT anti-androgen was, however, associated with a reduction of overall mortality.

Recurrence after curative treatment

Following curative treatment of prostate cancer, clinical recurrence is almost invariably preceded by rising PSA levels. Most current guidelines advise follow-up with measurements of PSA for at least 10 years following curative treatment [43]. The definition of BCR (*i.e.*, recurrence detected by an elevated PSA) is different after RP and RT. Following RP PSA should drop to and remain < 0.1 ng/mL. The current consensus definition of BCR after RP is two consecutive increases in PSA ≥ 0.2 ng/mL [44,45]. The 10-year overall risk of BCR after RP is about 24%, but can be both higher and lower depending on clinicopathological risk factors [46,47]. The clinical significance of BCR after RP is perhaps best illustrated by the study by Freedland et al (2005) which found a 10-year CSM of 27% (95% CI 21–34%) after BCR [48]. An earlier study by Pound et al (1999) described the natural history of progression after BCR following RP. In that study the median time for development of distant metastases following BCR was 8 years [49].

Following RT, interpretation of the PSA level is more complicated. PSA levels decreases gradually over the course of several months and do not always reach < 0.1 ng/mL. Up to 20% of patients experience transiently increasing PSA values after the initial decrease without evidence of recurrence; a so-called PSA bounce [50]. Furthermore, many patients, especially those with high-risk cancer, receive neoadjuvant and/or adjuvant HT which affects PSA levels. The American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology (ASTRO) has recommended several different definitions of BCR after RT, with the most recent being the so-called Phoenix criteria from 2006, which defines the BCR as an increase in PSA of > 2ng/mL above the lowest PSA value after treatment [51]. ASTRO recommends that this definition should be used primarily for the evaluation of RT on a group level and not for individual treatment decisions. In the SPCG-7 trial 26% of the men treated with RT in combination with HT for high-risk, non-metastatic prostate cancer had BCR according to the Phoenix criteria at 10 years [29]. In the SPCG-7 trial, the 10-year CSM was 46% among the patients who experienced BCR after RT [29].

In effect, virtually all patients who die from prostate cancer after curative treatment experience BCR. The rare exceptions are men with non-adenocarcinoma prostate malignancies that do not express PSA, such as neuroendocrine cancers. The best studied local therapy for patients with BCR following RP is salvage RT. Briganti et al (2012) found no difference in BCR-free survival between early salvage RT and immediate adjuvant RT in a retrospective study with matched controls. Three independent multi-centre randomised trials have established that immediate adjuvant RT for patients with pT3 pN0 prostate cancer or positive surgical margins significantly improves progression-free and metastasis-free survival, compared with watchful waiting [38,52,53]. King et al (2012) presented a systematic review on salvage RT, showing that lower PSA levels at the time of salvage treatment and

higher radiation doses increased recurrence-free survival to at best 64% [54]. They calculated that for each 0.1 ng/mL PSA increment, there was a 2.6% absolute loss of BCR-free survival. In a similar review, which also included previously unpublished data, Pfister et al (2014) showed a 5-year BCR-free survival of 71% after salvage RT when PSA was \leq 0.5 ng/mL, and a linear association between PSA levels and BCR-free survival in most of the included studies [55]. The increasing likelihood of salvage RT failure with increasing PSA levels at the time of its initiation is probably related to an increasing risk of undetected metastases. Since postoperative RT is associated with an up to 20% risk of complications, salvage RT should preferably be used in patients with non-metastatic recurrence only [55].

For local recurrences after RT, currently there exists no generally accepted curative treatment. Several modalities, such as cryotherapy, high-intensity focused ultrasound, and salvage prostatectomy, have been tried but none have been evaluated in randomised trials [56–62]. The risks of serious complications, such as urinary incontinence and rectourethral fistulas, are higher for secondary treatments after RT than after RP.

HT may be used for BCR when local treatments are not suitable, *e.g.* for metastatic recurrence. The aims are to delay onset of symptoms and improve survival and HT can be given either immediately following BCR or deferred. In a retrospective study, Moul et al (2008) found that early HT improved metastasis-free survival after BCR following RP for patients with Gleason score ≥ 8 , PSA doubling time < 12 months, or non-organ confined disease [63]. Similar results were reported by Tenenholz et al (2007) and Mydin et al (2013) in two independent studies of BCR following RT [64,65]. Whether chemotherapy can improve survival in this setting remains to be seen. In the SPCG-14 trial patients with BCR after curative treatment and who are at high risk of metastatic recurrences despite negative imaging are randomised to anti-androgen treatment with or without the addition of chemotherapy (docetaxel).

Metastatic prostate cancer

The presence of metastases has a large impact on survival. According to the Swedish NPCR the median overall survival after diagnosis is currently about 5 years for the entire group of patients with lymph node metastases, and about 7 years for those younger than 65 years of age at diagnosis. By comparison, the median overall survival is about 9 years for patients with localised disease and more than 15 years for patients younger than 65 years of age [66]. The prognosis is poorer for patients with distant metastases, with a median overall survival of about 3 years [6].

RP is generally not recommended for patients with metastatic prostate cancer [43]. However, it is possible that cytoreductive surgery could provide an improvement in survival, by removing the bulk of a cancer that would otherwise metastasise faster.

Two retrospective studies suggested that this could be the case, with significantly better survival in patients who underwent prostatectomy despite the presence of lymph node metastases, compared to those who did not [67,68]. While the authors of both studies adjusted their results for differences in patient and cancer characteristics, there was likely some remaining bias towards a worse prognosis among the patients who did undergo prostatectomy. In both studies the patients with lymph node metastases had significantly worse outcomes than those without. There are no prospective studies which demonstrate an effect of RP on patients who have distant metastases.

There are currently no randomised studies demonstrating improved survival using local RT for patients with metastatic prostate cancer. The MRC UK PR07 trial referred to earlier included patients with lymph node metastases, but the results for these patients have not been reported separately and the staging procedures were uncertain [30]. It is possible that RT both to the prostate and to lymph nodes could improve outcomes, but two randomised studies have reported conflicting results of including the pelvic lymph nodes in the radiation field [69,70].

HT only is the recommended treatment for patients with metastatic prostate cancer according to the EAU guidelines [43]. A Cochrane systematic review in which early ADT at diagnosis of locally advanced and metastatic prostate cancer was compared with deferred treatment until symptoms was published in 2001. The odds ratio was 0.7 (95% CI 0.4–1.0) for 5-year CSM and 0.6 (95% CI 0.4–0.7) for complications related to disease progression in favour of immediate treatment [36]. Comparable results were also later obtained for overall mortality in the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Trial 30891, with an odds ratio of 0.8 (95% CI 0.7–1.0) at 10-year follow-up [71]. However, that investigation showed no statistically significant improvement in cancer-specific survival. In the EPC trial, early treatment with an anti-androgen was associated with a statistically significant improvement in progression-free survival in men with locally advanced disease, a large proportion of whom must have had lymph node metastases [72]. Recently, preliminary results from an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) trial indicated that the addition of early chemotherapy (docetaxel) to ADT in patients with metastatic prostate cancer may improve overall survival [73]. The effect was most marked in the group of patients who had the largest metastatic burden, and less so in the group with low-volume disease. Whether these results hold up on more detailed analysis remains to be seen.

Modalities for detecting metastases

Nomograms and tables

Several nomograms and tables have been developed to help calculate the risk of extraprostatic extension and lymph node metastases. The first of these was described by Partin et al in 1993, who combined PSA levels, clinical local stage, and biopsy Gleason score to predict the risk of extra-capsular extension, seminal vesicle involvement (pT3b), and lymph node metastases [74]. Since then, the "Partin table" has been revised on several occasions, with the most recent update in 2013 based on 5,629 cases treated between 2006 and 2011 at Johns Hopkins Hospital in the United States [75]. However, it is important to note that only 1% of all the cases reported in that series had lymph node metastases, and only 3% had seminal vesicle involvement. Moreover, most of the lymphadenectomies were limited to the obturator fossa, rather than extended which is the current standard (discussed below). Therefore, it is uncertain whether the risk of metastases for patients with high-risk cancer is accurately estimated by the Partin table.

Briganti et al (2006) developed a similar nomogram based on the same parameters in patients with clinical stage T1–T3 disease who underwent an extended lymphadenectomy [76]. It was updated in 2012 to also incorporate the percentage of positive biopsy cores as a predictive factor, which increased the accuracy [77].

The Partin table and the Briganti nomogram have both been externally validated [78–80]. Nevertheless, nomograms merely provide risk estimates and cannot identify which patient has metastases and which has not. Accordingly, they can only complement, not replace, the diagnostic modalities.

Computed tomography

Computed tomography (CT) uses x-ray imaging from many angles around the body to computationally create a tomographic image, and is one of the most widely applied x-ray techniques in modern health care. One of the main advantages of CT is that it generates a fairly large amount of information in a relatively short time. A modern multi-slice CT system can scan the entire body in less than a minute and the cost per examination is very low.

The chief drawback of CT for detection of prostate cancer and metastases is that it provides little cancer-specific information. Hence, lymph node metastases are suggested by a CT scan solely by the presence of enlarged lymph nodes (diameter ≥ 10 mm). Bone metastases can be suggested by sclerotic or lytic lesions in the skeleton. At present, there is no contrast agent that can identify metastatic lesions

specifically. The iodine-based contrast agents that are available today visualise the blood-flow in the tissues, which can be affected by many factors. Tiguert et al (1999) explored the relation between lymph node sizes smaller than 10 mm on CT scans and the presence of lymph node metastases in a retrospective study, but found no association [81]. Briganti et al (2012) retrospectively investigated 1,541 patients with prostate cancer who underwent a CT scan and a lymphadenectomy, and noted that sensitivity and specificity were only 0.18 and 0.94, respectively, in the high-risk group, and 0.08 and 0.96, respectively, in the low-risk group [82]. Saokar et al (2010) reported that CT was significantly less efficient than magnetic resonance imaging at detecting lymph node metastases [83]. Therefore, CT is currently not recommended as a routine procedure for the detection of such metastases. Although CT is commonly used to detect visceral metastases in various forms of cancer, no studies have assessed its accuracy for detecting visceral and bone metastases from prostate cancer.

Magnetic resonance imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is based on that hydrogen atoms (in the body) in a strong magnetic field are raised to an excited state by a radio frequency pulse and that electromagnetic photons are emitted when the atoms relax again. This physical phenomenon is called nuclear magnetic resonance. The emitted photons can be detected by the MRI scanner, and a tomographic image is produced through computer analysis. Varying the parameters of the process can provide different types of images (*e.g.*, T1-weighted images, T2-weighted images, diffusion-weighted [DW] images, and apparent diffusion coefficient [ADC] images). Different types of tissue are better visualised using specific parameters. A general advantage of MRI is that it does not use ionising radiation. Disadvantages of this method are that it is time-consuming and that some patients cannot undergo MRI scans due to claustrophobia or the presence of magnetic implants or other foreign materials.

The use of MRI in lymph node staging has been investigated in several studies. Thoeny et al (2014) recently studied 120 patients who had either prostate or bladder cancer and were examined with DW-MRI. The sensitivity and specificity for lymph node metastases on a per-patient basis were approximately 0.75 and 0.80, respectively [84]. However, when considering per-lymph node site, the average sensitivity was only 0.37 (specificity not calculated). It is important to note that only patients without enlarged lymph nodes (cut-off 10 mm) were included in the study cohort. The results obtained were significantly better for MRI than for computed tomography (CT), however. Harisinghani et al (2003) described a protocol with an alternative approach, using the lymph-node specific contrast agent ferumoxtran-10 to produce an MRI lymphangiogram [85]. Ferumoxtran-10 is normally ingested by macrophages in non-metastatic lymph nodes but such uptake is inhibited in

metastatic lymph nodes, and hence the diagnosis of metastases is based on the absence of contrast agent in otherwise normal-looking lymph nodes. Compared with lymphadenectomy, the MRI lymphangiogram yielded 1.0 sensitivity and 0.96 specificity per-patient, and 0.91 sensitivity and 0.98 specificity per lymph node site. Heesakkers et al (2008) later repeated this assessment in a larger cohort comprising 375 patients, 61 (16%) of whom had lymph node metastases determined by lymphadenectomy. They reported lower per-patient sensitivity and specificity of 0.82 and 0.93, respectively. No results were given per lymph node site [86]. These observations are definitely interesting, but must be further validated before they can be considered for routine use.

As for detecting skeletal metastases, Lecouvet et al (2007) showed that MRI of the axial skeleton was more accurate than bone scintigraphy with superior sensitivity and specificity. [87]. However, bone scintigraphy is generally recommended in the various guidelines due to a higher availability and a lower cost than MRI.

Scintigraphy

Scintigraphy was the first nuclear medicine procedure to be applied and is still the most common investigation of this type. It is based on the gamma decay of certain isotopes, usually ^{99m}Tc, which produces a gamma ray that can be detected with a gamma camera. The radioactive isotope is chemically coupled to a targeting carrier molecule so that it will accumulate in the desired part of the body after intravenous administration. Initially, only planar scans were performed, analogous to the use of planar x-ray scans. Later single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) was developed, in much the same way as the CT scanner.

For prostate cancer, the carrier molecule most often used for scintigraphy is methylene diphosphonate (MDP), which accumulates in skeletal sites with a high bone matrix turnover, such as fractures or metastatic lesions. Planar bone scanning with ^{99m}Tc-MDP was long considered to have a sensitivity near 1.0 and therefore the reference standard for detecting skeletal metastases. However, most studies using this method were hampered by the lack of a control modality, and therefore did not take into account smaller sub-clinical metastases. By comparison, later studies showed that SPECT provides a sensitivity and specificity of 0.71 and 0.85, respectively, compared to only 0.39 and 0.79 for planar bone scans [88]. As was mentioned earlier, also MRI provides better diagnostic accuracy than planar bone scanning. For recurrent prostate cancer, planar bone scans rarely detect metastases until PSA levels are above 5–10 ng/mL, at which time salvage RT is unlikely to be successful [89–91].

¹¹¹In-labelled capromab pendetide (ProstaScintTM) has been approved by the Food and Drug Administration of the United States for visualisation of prostate cancer metastases [92]. Capromab is a monoclonal murine antibody which targets ProstateSpecific Membrane Antigen (PSMA). Early results were promising but in later studies specificity was low and other modalities were shown to have better diagnostic performance [93].

PET/CT

Positron emission tomography (PET) is based on the detection of emitted positrons, the positively charged antiparticles of electrons. Electrons and positrons, collectively called beta particles, can be emitted from an atomic nucleus through the process of beta decay, whereby an unstable isotope decays into a more stable one. In the case of positron emission, this is called beta-plus decay. An example is ¹⁸F. which is an unstable isotope of fluorine with a half-life of about 110 minutes, that decays into ¹⁸O, a stable isotope of oxygen, while emitting a positron (and for completeness sake, also an electron neutrino, which interacts very weakly, is hard to detect, and will therefore not be discussed further). Another example is ¹¹C, an unstable isotope of carbon with a half-life of about 20 minutes, which decays into ¹¹B, a stable isotope of boron, and a positron. The emitted positron then travels through the tissue, on the order of up to a few millimetres depending on the energy of the positron (≈ 0.5 mm in the case of ¹⁸F), before hitting an electron in another atom. This causes a particle-antiparticle annihilation that results in the emission of two photons in diametrically opposite directions. This process is illustrated in Figure 2. Two detectors, one on each side of the decaying atomic nucleus, can then detect the coincidental photons (*i.e.*, they arrive at approximately the same time at both detectors) signalling a beta decay event.

In the same manner as computed tomography, by rotating the detectors in a full circle around the body, a tomographic image can be computed. Further, by performing a computed tomography at the same time, the two types of image (positron emission tomography and computed tomography) can be fused together giving a combined functional (PET) image and morphologic (CT) image, thereby showing exactly what organ or tissue is accumulating the isotope used.

The most common isotopes used for PET are ¹⁸F and ¹¹C, although use of ⁶⁸Ga and ¹²¹I has also been described also. The choice of isotope is based mainly on the halflife being suitable for the handling needed before use. Also, the positron energy of the isotope should be suitably small, so that the photon emissions will be reasonably close to the positron emission source (Figure 2). To be useful however, the isotope needs to incorporated in a molecule that accumulates in the desired tissue; a tracer. There are a multitude of tracers that have been reported, but only a handful which have been more thoroughly tried.

Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) is a glucose analogue which accumulates in tissue with increased glucose metabolism. Since cancer cells predominantly metabolise glucose, FDG is the most commonly used tracer molecule for PET/CT imaging in

cancer. The isotope most often incorporated in FDG is ¹⁸F. FDG is used with good accuracy in several forms of cancer, but early studies showed that there was virtually no accumulation in prostate cancer tissue, neither in primary untreated prostate cancer, nor in recurring cancer [94,95].



Figure 2.

Schematic illustration of positron emission, not to scale. An atom (1) of a radioactive isotope emits a positron (2), which hits an electron of another atom (3) in the vicinity. This causes a particleantiparticle annihilation event, leading to the emission of two electromagnetic photons (4) travelling in almost diametrically opposite directions. The distance the positron travels before hitting an electron depends on the energy of the positron, with a higher energy leading to a longer distance, which in turn affects the resolution of the PET scan.

Acetate is a building block in the synthesis of the lipids in cell membranes, and is accumulated in tissue with higher rates of cell turnover. Since cancer cells generally have a high turnover, acetate can be used for detecting cancer manifestations. The isotope most often used is ¹¹C, although ¹⁸F-fluoroacetate has also been reported [96–102]. At least one report suggests that these are not physiologically similar, however [103].

Choline is likewise a building block of cell membranes and can be used to detect cancer foci with PET/CT imaging. Use of either ¹¹C or ¹⁸F has been reported. There have been no studies comparing the use of the different isotopes. Examples of PET/CT images are given in Figure 3.



Figure 3.

Examples of ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT images, not all from the same patient. (A) PET/CT fusion image with PET image in yellow overlaid CT image. This image shows physiologic uptake of 18F-choline in the kidneys, the liver, and the pancreas. There is also some uptake in the intestines, which is normal. (B) PET/CT fusion image showing a normal-sized lymph node (white arrow) between the right external iliac artery (ventral to the lymph node) and vein (dorsal to the lymph node), with pathological choline uptake indicating a possible metastasis. The site of the lymph node is consistent with a primary lymphatic landing site of prostate cancer, which is excised by an extended pelvic lymph node dissection. (C) PET/CT fusion image of the lower part of the pelvis, showing a normal sized lymph node in the left para-rectal area (white arrow) with pathologic choline uptake. The site is consistent with a primary landing site of prostate cancer, but which is not excised in either a limited or an extended pelvic lymph node dissection. (D) PET/CT fusion image showing pathologic choline uptake (white arrow) in the left inferior ramus of the pubic bone. The CT image shows a sclerotic area (not visible with this image window) corresponding to the uptake site. In this PET/CT fusion image there is actually a slight mismatch due to the patient moving slightly between the scans, causing the uptake to appear in the muscular tissue, but on the PET images it is apparent that this is a bone site.



Figure 4.

Example of ¹⁸F-fluoride PET scan. Fluoride PET/CT fusion images are similar to choline PET/CT fusion images. In this image, a volume-based reconstruction of the entire torso is shown, which is analogous to a planar bone scan but with more details. Several uptakes are evident in the axial skeleton that on CT images (not shown) are clearly degenerative in nature. The uptake in the humerus (black arrow) does not correspond to any degenerative findings on CT and is highly suspicious for metastasis.

Fluoride is the fluorine ion and is often used as a salt, sodium fluoride (NaF), for PET/CT imaging. Fluoride has a high affinity for the skeleton, accumulating especially in skeletal sites with a high turnover of bone matrix, such as fractures or metastases (Figure 4). It was first suggested as a bone-imaging agent in 1962 in a paper by Blau et al, but was initially abandoned in favour of scintigraphy, which was technically simpler [104]. However, recent improvements in PET technology has renewed interest in this tracer. A very high sensitivity and specificity for the detection of bone metastases, superior to planar bone scan and SPECT, has been reported for several forms of cancer [88,105,106].

The level of uptake of each tracer is usually measured and compared to uptake in normal tissue, giving a ratio called the specific uptake value (SUV). Several different algorithms exist for calculating normal uptake, leading to difficulties in

comparing SUVs between different centres and different studies. However, in a given centre with a given algorithm SUVs are highly reproducible [107].

Lymphadenectomy

Lymphadenectomy is a surgical procedure in which a number of lymph nodes are excised to be examined microscopically by a pathologist. Depending on the primary cancer, different groups of lymph nodes are removed. Previously, the most common procedure for prostate cancer was a limited pelvic lymph node dissection (IPLND), encompassing only the lymph node tissue in the obturator fossae (Figure 5). However, the current standard for determining the lymph node stage (N stage) according to both European and American guidelines is an extended pelvic lymph node dissection (ePLND), removing all the lymph node tissue around the internal and external iliac arteries, in the obturator fossa, and around the common iliac artery up to the crossing of the ureter [108,109]. This procedure is performed bilaterally either at the same time as a prostatectomy or as a separate surgical procedure before RT, and can be performed either as open or laparoscopic surgery. More extensive schemes that can increase the yield of lymph nodes have been proposed, but there is no consensus regarding these approaches. Also, a multimodality mapping study performed by Mattei et al (2008) showed that a large proportion (up to 25%) of primary lymph node metastases can occur outside the ePLND template and will therefore be missed [110].

The main drawback of lymphadenectomy is the risk of complications. In an early study of lymphadenectomy for staging or prostate carcinoma, Paul et al (1983) found complications in 33% of cases, one third of which were considered serious [111]. Bratt et al (1994) evaluated a series of 156 prostate cancer patients who underwent open IPLND and found a 7% risk of serious complications, and also noted that 5% of the patients developed wound infections post-operatively [112]. It is likely that the risk of complications increases with more extensive lymphadenectomy. Briganti et al (2006) observed that the overall rate of complications was 20% for ePLND compared to 8% for IPLND (p < 0.001), with increasing risk the more lymph nodes that were removed, and this also applied when the procedures were performed by more experienced surgeons [113]. Similar results were also reported from Sweden by Lindberg et al (2009) [114].

In an early study of laparoscopic lymphadenectomy, Stone et al (1997) found that the risk of complications was 36% in patients such surgery compared to only 2% in those who underwent open surgery (p < 0.0001), although the former group also had a larger number of lymph nodes removed [115]. Later Liedberg et al (2012) reported that laparoscopic ePLND in a series of 133 patients led to 10% complications with Clavien grade 2 or higher, and only 2% with grade \geq 3 [116]. Mattei et al (2013) performed a similar study of robot-assisted laparoscopy in 134 patients and found a 2% risk of complications of Clavien grade ≥ 2 for ePLND [117]. Liss et al (2013) described comparable results of 2% risk of Clavien grade ≥ 3 complications in a series of 54 robot-assisted prostatectomies with concomitant ePLND [118]. Thus, whereas there are no prospective comparative trials, it is possible that the ongoing shift from open to laparoscopic surgery will decrease the frequency of complications. Complications would be more acceptable if the lymphadenectomy had a therapeutic effect (*i.e.*, improved survival). There is at least one ongoing randomised trial investigating this question [119].



Figure 5.

Schematic overview of the anatomy of the pelvis relevant to lymphadenectomy. Adapted with permission from Dr Agostino Mattei and Prof. Urs Studer [110]. (A) The green area represents the template of an extended pelvic lymph node dissection (ePLND). All the lymphatic tissue around the internal iliac artery, around the obturator nerve (the obturator fossa) and to the lateral border of the external iliac artery. The proximal border is defined by the ureteric crossing of the common iliac artery. (B) The orange area represents the template of a limited pelvic lymph node dissection (IPLND), which only encompasses the obturator fossa.

Sentinel lymph node dissection

The sentinel node (SN) is defined as the first lymph node which receives lymphatic fluid from a given organ or specific part of an organ. The underlying assumption is that lymphatic fluid, and thereby lymphatically spreading cancer cells, travels in a stepwise fashion, first from the origin to the first echelon lymph nodes, and then further to later echelon lymph nodes. Sentinel lymph node dissection is a surgical procedure where the sentinel lymph node or nodes are identified and removed. These first echelon lymph nodes can then be examined histopathologically, determining the N stage of the patient if the underlying assumption is correct. Identification of the sentinel lymph nodes is done by a peri-tumoural injection of a marker, which then follows the lymphatic pathways to the appropriate lymph nodes and accumulates there. This procedure was first described in malignant melanoma by Morton et al (1992) using a blue dye (patent blue) as marker, providing a visual identification of the SNs [120]. Van der Veen et al (1994) improved on the results by adding ^{99m}Tc-marked nanocolloid as marker, using a hand-held gamma-probe intraoperatively to easier identify the sentinel lymph nodes that were not easily visible [121]. It was found that the absence of metastases in the sentinel lymph nodes precluded other lymph node metastases with a very high accuracy. This meant that a large proportion of the patients could be spared complete lymphadenectomies and thereby possibly avoid common serious complications, such as lymphocele and deep vein thrombosis. At the same time, the patients who did have lymph node metastases could be treated with more aggressive strategies, in accordance with the higher risk of mortality. Additionally, since fewer lymph nodes needed to be examined primarily with histopathology, more thorough histopathological examinations could be done, increasing diagnostic sensitivity for micro-metastases (*i.e.*, metastases ≤ 2 mm in diameter), *e.g.* by examining more sections at smaller intervals from each lymph node [122]. A further potential advantage is that this method may detect lymph node metastases outside of the commonly dissected areas, thus increasing sensitivity compared with a standard ePLND. The SN technique is now standard-of-care for malignant melanoma and breast cancer patients, for whom a complete lymphadenectomy is now only performed if metastases are found in the sentinel lymph nodes.

Specific background to our studies

As has been discussed earlier, the treatment options for patients with metastases, especially distant metastases, is mainly limited to HT. Local therapy to the prostate have not been proven to improve survival or quality of life for men with metastases. Indeed, quality of life might even worsen due to complications and side-effects of RP or RT. At the time of initiation of the included studies, the regional guidelines on prostate cancer mandated imaging, in the form of a planar bone scan, for patients with high-risk disease. If there were no indications of bone metastases, a pelvic lymph node dissection at the time of prostatectomy, or before RT, was also recommended. Patients who had histologically proven lymph node metastases did then either not receive RT, or had by then already undergone a RP which was not considered beneficial because of the metastases. Patients with BCR after prostatectomy were generally offered salvage RT without lymph node dissection, if the PSA level was not too elevated (a vague concept). However, even in the group of patients with a PSA lower than 2 ng/mL a significant proportion did not respond to the RT, likely because of metastatic recurrence. If the patients with metastases had been identified, they could have been spared the potential complications of the ineffective RT.

A non-invasive method for identifying metastases with higher sensitivity than CT and MRI was therefore desirable. In 2007, PET/CT scans using either ¹⁸F-choline or ¹⁸F-fluoride became available at Skåne University Hospital, but evidence for their use for patients with prostate cancer was limited [123–134]. However, we believed that this non-invasive modality could identify at least some patients with metastatic disease, who would not benefit from curative treatment, and therefore would be better managed with HT alone.

For patients with newly diagnosed, untreated, prostate cancer there were in 2007 five independent previous studies, of which one concerned ¹⁸F-choline and four concerned ¹¹C-choline [123–127]. Three of the ¹¹C-choline studies included less than 20 patients [124,125,127], while the fourth, which included 67 patients, showed a sensitivity of 0.80 and a specificity of 0.96 compared with pelvic lymph node dissection [123]. However, it was unclear how extensive the dissection was in the latter study, and patients with low-risk cancer did not undergo lymphadenectomy but were automatically classified as metastasis-free. Also, this study only assessed PET without CT, which might have affected the results. The
one study of ¹⁸F-choline comprised 20 patients and only found pathological tracer uptake in a single patient [126]. This proved to be a false positive.

For patients with BCR after primary treatment, there were a few more studies; ten in total, there were six concerning ¹¹C-choline and four of ¹⁸F-choline [125,127–134]. Almost all of these studies, however, included patients with a wide variety of primary treatments, wide ranges of PSA levels and in many cases the patients were already under HT at the time of the PET/CT scans. The clinical utility of choline PET/CT was therefore uncertain for patients for whom there was an evidence-based treatment available, *i.e.* were hormone-naïve and had a PSA below 1-2 ng/mL.

¹⁸F-fluoride PET/CT had at the time of the initiation of our studies been reasonably well studied in prostate cancer, but there were no studies of performing both fluoride and choline PET/CT [88,106,135]. Since fluoride PET/CT can detect bone metastases only, its value compared with choline PET/CT, which may detect lymph node metastases, visceral metastases, and bone metastases, was uncertain. There was also uncertainty regarding the sensitivity of bone metastases for choline PET/CT. It could therefore be hypothesised that performing both choline and fluoride PET/CT scans would lead to treatment changes for more patients than if only one or the other was utilised, but with a significant increase in cost for the scans.

Another option for possibly minimising complications of ePLND, while increasing its diagnostic accuracy, was to employ SN dissection. Previously, two independent studies had proved the feasibility of SN dissection in prostate cancer [136,137]. Common to both protocols, however, was injection of tracer and subsequent scintigraphic imaging the day before surgery, creating logistic issues and increasing the discomfort for the patient. Additionally, it was possible that the long time between injection and operation could lead to difficulties in identifying the proper sentinel lymph nodes intraoperatively, due to increased spread of the tracer with time. It was therefore hypothesised that by injecting the tracer into the prostate immediately prior to surgery, forgoing scintigraphic imaging and only using a handheld gamma-probe intraoperatively, the proper first echelon sentinel lymph nodes could still be identified. Furthermore, by performing the injections after anaesthesia, any additional discomfort to the patient could be avoided.

Aims

The aims of the included studies were as follows:

- To investigate how treatment decisions are affected by ¹⁸F-choline and ¹⁸F-fluoride PET/CT scans in patients that have high-risk prostate cancer and normal conventional imaging results (Study I).
- To evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT compared with ePLND for detection of lymph node metastases (Study II).
- To determine what proportion of hormone-naïve patients with BCR after RP show positive ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT findings at PSA levels of < 2 ng/mL (Study III).
- To ascertain whether a simplified protocol for sentinel lymph node detection can accurately identify the SNs and diagnose the lymph node stage in patients with high-risk prostate cancer (Study IV).

Materials and methods

Patients

PET/CT

From March 2008 to November 2012, urologists in the Southern healthcare region of Sweden were invited to select patients, with either newly diagnosed high-risk prostate cancer or BCR after RP, for referral to PET/CT.

Inclusion criteria for patients with newly diagnosed prostate cancer were as follows: they were to have biopsy-confirmed prostate cancer, $PSA \ge 20$ ng/mL or a Gleason score of 8–10, a normal or inconclusive planar bone scan, and be eligible for curative treatment. Patients with $PSA \ge 100$ ng/mL and previous or ongoing HT were excluded.

For recurrent prostate cancer the inclusion criteria were: previous RP with complete available pathology report, a rising $PSA \ge 0.2$ ng/mL but below 2 ng/mL, Gleason score ≥ 7 in the prostatectomy specimen or a PSA doubling time ≤ 6 months, and patient eligible for salvage RT. Patients with previous or ongoing HT were excluded.

All clinical management was determined by the referring urologist. However, treatment decisions were often made after discussion of positive PET/CT findings with a member of the study group.

Sentinel node detection

Subsequent to a pilot study of five patients at Lund University Hospital performed in 2004, our investigation of SN detection covered the period April 2007 to May 2012 and included consecutive patients at Växjö Hospital who met these criteria: had biopsy-confirmed prostate cancer with high risk according to the D'Amico criteria, clinical local tumour stage T2–3, no evidence of distant metastases on planar bone scan or PET/CT, and were eligible for curative treatment.

PET/CT

The ¹⁸F-choline was synthesised on a TracerLab MX_{FDG} module (GE Healthcare, Stockholm, Sweden) using the method described by Kryza et al (2008), but with the slight modification of using tetrabutylammonium hydroxide instead of Kryptofix 2.2.2 [138]. Tracer purity was controlled by ion chromatography and thin-layer chromatography, with specific activity of > 74 GBq/µmol and > 99% radiochemical purity.

All PET/CT scans were performed at Skåne University Hospital in Lund or Malmö, using an integrated PET/CT system (Philips Gemini TF, Philips Medical Systems, Cleveland, OH, USA). The patients fasted for 4 hours before injection of ¹⁸F-choline, but not before ¹⁸F-fluoride. PET scanning was performed 1–1.5 hours after intravenous injection of tracer at a dose of 4 MBq/kg body-weight (maximum dose 400 MBq), with 2 minutes per bed position. For the patients with both ¹⁸F-choline and ¹⁸F-fluoride PET/CT scans, the scans were performed 1–24 days apart (median 4 days). The ¹⁸F-choline PET scans were acquired from the proximal femur to the base of the skull, whereas the ¹⁸F-fluoride scans also included the whole skull and the proximal half of the femur.

CT scans were performed immediately before PET using a multi-detector spiral CT scanner. For the ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT scans, the CT were performed as diagnostic quality CT using 5-mm reconstructed slice thickness, pitch factor 0.938, rotation speed 0.75 s, 120 kV, and high beam-tube-current modulation (120-300 mAs, depending on the patient's total body mass). Sixty minutes before a CT scan the patient was given 1000 mL of oral contrast (50 mL of Omnipaque [GE Healthcare] 240 mg I/mL and 30 mL of sorbitol 70%, mixed with 920 mL of water). Intravenous contrast (Omnipaque 350 mg I/mL, 350 mg I/kg body-weight) was administered using an automatic injection pump (Medrad Stellant Dual Head Injector, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Three CT series were obtained: the liver was scanned without intravenous contrast and then the thorax was scanned with contrast in arterial phase, both during breath-holding, and lastly a full-body scan was performed with contrast in portal phase during normal breathing. The last scan was used for attenuation correction and for PET/CT image fusion. For ¹⁸F-fluoride PET scans, a low dose (50 mAs) CT scan without any contrast was performed for attenuation correction and image fusion.

All PET/CT scans were interpreted by a radiologist as well as a nuclear medicine physician. Focal ¹⁸F-choline uptake above background, corresponding to an abdominal or pelvic lymph node, was reported as a positive lymph node. Focal ¹⁸F-choline or ¹⁸F-fluoride uptake that was above background in bone and did not correspond to other pathology (*e.g.*, a fracture) was reported as a positive bone site.

For the patients that later performed a pelvic lymph node dissection, the ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT scans were re-evaluated by a dedicated team consisting of a nuclear medicine physician and a radiologist (HA & KL), both PET/CT experts. Both were blinded to the results of the lymph node dissections and further management, but had access to the initial PET/CT evaluations.

Lymphadenectomy and sentinel node detection

The ePLND was performed as described by Heidenreich et al (2007), with the proximal border being at the ureteric crossing of the iliac arteries [139]. Surgery was performed at one of five centres (in Halmstad, Helsingborg, Lund, Malmö, or Växjö), either during the same session as RP, or as a separate surgical procedure prior to RT. The choice of laparoscopic or open procedure was made by the operating surgeon, according to his or her expertise and considering possible patient-related factors. The lymph node specimens were sent for pathology and handled as stipulated by to the local policies at each centre.

For the patients undergoing SN detection, 100 MBq of 99mTc-marked nanocolloid (NanoColl, GE Healthcare) was injected into the prostate immediately prior to surgery, but after induction of anaesthesia. The injections were given in four 0.25 ml aliquots, two on each side, adjacent to, but not into, a tumour that was palpable or visible on transrectal ultrasound. In the case of unilateral tumours, the injections on the contralateral sides were given in the peripheral zone, one at the base and one at the apex. All injections were given by the operating urologist, who also selected the injection sites. Ciprofloxacin (750 mg) was administered orally preoperatively as prophylaxis. During surgery, an ePLND was first performed, as described previously. After dissection on each side, a hand-held gamma probe was used to detect residual radioactivity in the accessible portions of the pelvis. Any lymph tissue showing residual activity was excised and sent separately for pathology. At the end of surgery, the gamma probe was used to detect any lymph nodes in the primary specimens showing tracer uptake, which were then isolated and sent separately for pathology. Any lymph nodes with tracer uptake were designated SNs, and all other lymph nodes were designated non-SNs.

At pathology, non-SNs were handled according to standard procedures, while SNs were cut into 3-mm thick slices that were embedded separately in paraffin. Each slice was step-sectioned at three levels at 150-µm intervals. These sections were then stained with haematoxylin-eosin and anti-cytokeratin antibodies (AE1/AE3). Any metastases that were ≤ 2 mm in diameter, detected in any of the lymph nodes, were designated micro-metastases.

Statistics

Enrolment of patients was prospective according to the protocol, with acquisition of outcome data performed retrospectively at the end of each study. Descriptive statistics were used exclusively, except in Study III, in which both univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis were applied to assess possible predictors of positive PET/CT findings after BCR.

Ethical approval

All four of the investigations were approved by the Research Ethics Review Board of Lund University: EPN LU552/2007 for the PET/CT studies (I-III), and LU350/2005 (open surgery) and LU547/2006 (addendum for laparoscopic surgery) for the SN study (IV). Written informed consent was obtained from the patients.

Additional analyses

During the preparation of this thesis, after publication of the included studies, the following additional scientific questions were raised:

- How did choline PET/CT perform compared with fluoride PET/CT, with regards to the detection of bone metastases?

- Where there any factors that could predict which patients had multiple positive uptake sites for the choline and fluoride PET/CT scans?

- What was the optimal SUV cut-off level for choline PET/CT in detecting lymph node metastases?

- Were there any factors that could predict which patients would have a true-positive choline PET/CT scans, as opposed to a true-negative scan?

Consequently, the results of the PET/CT scans of Study I were re-analysed with regards to bone metastases alone. Additionally, the SUVs of all lymph nodes with increased tracer uptake in Study II were calculated and recorded, with the maximal SUV for each patient, and the N stage based on the lymphadenectomy, used for ROC analysis. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis were performed for the patients in Study I, to asses for possible predictive factors for multiple positive uptake sites, and for the patients in Study II, for true-positive PET/CT scans compared with true-negative scans. In both cases, the factors with the lowest p-values in univariate analysis were used in multivariate analysis. The

number of factors used in each of the multivariate analyses were decided based on the number of positive outcomes in each analysis, with at least five positive outcomes per factor.

Table 3.

Clinical characteristics of the patients in the three investigations on staging of newly diagnosed prostate cancer (Studies I, II, and IV).

	Study I	Study II	Study IV				
	n = 90	n = 112	n = 83				
Age, years							
Mean (SD)	66.5 (5.6)	65.6 (6.2)	65.2 (6.3)				
Median (range)	66.8 (49.9–77.2)	66.1 (47.8–77.4)	65.9 (43.2–75.8)				
PSA, ng/mL							
Mean (SD)	27.9 (20.2)	30.1 (20.6)	19.5 (15.1)				
Median (range)	22.0 (2.4–95)	25.5 (2.4–95)	17.0 (3.4–91)				
Biopsy Gleason score, n (%)							
5–6	4 (4)	7 (6)	12 (14)				
3+4	17 (19)	22 (20)	30 (36)				
4+3	11 (12)	19 (17)	14 (17)				
8-10	58 (64)	64 (57)	27 (33)				
Local clinical tumour stage, n (%)							
T1c	14 (16)	23 (21)	-				
T2	30 (33)	35 (31)	22 (27)				
T3	46 (51)	54 (48)	61 (73)				
Bone scan, n (%)							
Negative	73 (81)	102 (91)	83 (100)				
Inconclusive	17 (19)	10 (9)	0				
No. of patients included in more than one study							
Also in Study I	_	61	9				
Also in Study II	-	_	30				
Abbreviations: SD, star	Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; PSA, prostate-specific antigen.						

Results and comments

Primary staging

A total of 185 prostate cancer patients were included in the three investigations concerning primary staging (I, II, and IV), and nine of the patients participated in all three of these studies. The clinical characteristics of all the patients at inclusion are detailed in Table 3. The patient cohorts in Studies I and II were at least partly similar, because more than half of the patients participated in both investigations. The patients in Study IV had slightly different characteristics due to different inclusion criteria.

Table 4.

Comparison of the results of choline PET/CT and fluoride PET/CT. Results are shown for (A) all 90 patients evaluated, (B) the 18 patients with treatment plans changed based on the PET/CT scans, and (C) all 90 patients but considering only skeletal sites.

Α			Fluoride				
		_	+	++	Total		
	_	40	11	4	55 (61%)		
Choline	+	7	2	2	11 (12%)		
	++	6	5	13	24 (27%)		
	Total	53 (59%)	18 (20%)	19 (21%)	90 (100%)		
В			Fluoride				
		_	+	++	Total		
	_	-	-	-	_		
Choline	+	-	1	1	2 (11%)		
	++	3	3	10	16 (89%)		
	Total	3 (17%)	4 (22%)	11 (61%)	18 (100%)		
С			Fluoride				
		_	+	++	Total		
	_	52	17	7	76 (84%)		
Choline	+	1	1	5	7 (8%)		
	++	-	-	7	7 (8%)		
	Total	53 (59%)	18 (20%)	19 (21%)	90 (100%)		
	Symbols: -, negative results; +, positive finding at a single site; ++, positive findings at multiple sites.						

Table 5.

Clinical characteristics of the patients in Study I, categorised according to the results of the PET/CT scans.

	Negative	Choline	Fluoride	Either	Both	Combined
		++	++	++	++	++
	n = 40	n = 24	n = 19	n = 30	n = 13	n = 32
Age, years						
Mean (SD)	66.8 (6.1)	66.7 (5.6)	67.3 (5.2)	67.0 (5.2)	66.6 (6.0)	66.8 (5.2)
Median (range)	66.8 (49.9–77.3)	67.1 (55.3–76.1)	68.0 (55.3–76.1)	68.0 (55.3–76.1)	67.0 (55.3–76.1)	67.8 (55.3–76.1)
PSA, ng/mL						
Mean (SD)	26.7 (18.6)	29.6 (21.5)	23.9 (17.9)	27.3 (20.1)	26.5 (20.4)	28.0 (19.9)
Median (range)	22.0 (2.4–81)	22.5 (6.0–82)	17.0 (6.0–77)	21.5 (6.0–82)	22.0 (6.0–77)	22.5 (6.0–82)
Biopsy Gleason score, n (%)						
5-6	4 (10)	-	-	-	-	-
3+4	8 (20)	1 (4)	-	1 (3)	_	3 (9)
4+3	7 (18)	2 (8)	2 (11)	2 (7)	2 (15)	2 (6)
8-10	21 (53)	21 (88)	17 (89)	27 (90)	11 (85)	27 (84)
Local clinical tumour stage, n (%)						
T1c	9 (23)	1 (4)	2 (11)	2 (7)	1 (8)	3 (9)
T2	16 (40)	7 (29)	4 (21)	7 (23)	4 (31)	7 (22)
Т3	15 (38)	16 (67)	13 (68)	21 (70)	8 (62)	22 (69)
Bone scan, n (%)						
Negative	39 (98)	13 (54)	7 (37)	18 (60)	2 (15)	20 (63)
Inconclusive	1 (3)	11 (46)	12 (63)	12 (40)	11 (85)	12 (38)

Abbreviations: PET/CT, positron emission tomography fused with computed tomography; SD, standard deviation; PSA, prostate-specific antigen; ++, multiple uptake sites.

Ninety patients had both choline and fluoride PET/CT scans (Study I), and treatment plans were changed for 18 of the patients (20%) due to the results of their scans. The PET/CT results for all 90 patients are presented in a cross-table (Table 4a). Fifty-five patients (61%) had no evidence of metastases on choline PET/CT, and 15 (27%) of those subjects had one or more positive sites on fluoride PET/CT, 12 (23%) had positive findings on choline PET/CT. In total, there was at least one positive finding in either of the scans in 50 (56%) of the 90 patients, and at least two positive findings on each scan. A cross-table for the 18 patients whose management was changed are given in Table 4b. All of those patients had at least one, and most at least two, positive findings on choline PET/CT. It would seem that the urologists who were treating the patients gave the most weight to the choline PET/CT results, since none of the 15 patients who only had positive fluoride PET/CT findings had

their treatments altered, but the reasons for this are unclear. Which tracer is best at detecting metastases could not be determined from these results, nevertheless it is evident that performing both scans revealed more suspected metastases than performing either alone.

All but one of the 13 patients with inconclusive bone scans had multiple positive findings on either of the PET/CT scans, and all but two had multiple positive sites on both PET/CT scans (Table 5). Therefore, it could be argued that an inconclusive bone scan should in fact be interpreted as positive, and treatment should be directed accordingly, but either choline or fluoride PET/CT may be used to confirm the presence of the metastases.

Table 6.

Results of comparison between ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT findings and histopathology after ePLND when considering any tracer uptake above background as a positive PET/CT finding, *i.e.* best-case sensitivity and worst-case specificity. Separate cross-tables are presented for A) findings only within the ePLND template, B) findings only in the whole pelvis, C) any lymph node findings, and D) any lymph node or skeletal findings. Sensitivity and specificity, both with 95% confidence intervals, for ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT in detecting metastases compared with ePLND, are given in each sub-table.

PET/C	CT	ePL	ND	Sensitivity	Specificity
		NO	N1	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Α	NO	59	32	0.33	0.92
Only template	N1	5	16	(0.21–0.49)	(0.82–0.97)
В	NO	54	26	0.46	0.84
Whole pelvis	N1	10	22	(0.32–0.61)	(0.73–0.92)
С	N0M0	53	26	0.46	0.83
Pelvis+abdomen	N1 or M1	11	22	(0.32–0.61)	(0.71–0.91)
D	N0M0	52	25	0.48	0.81
Whole body	N1 or M1	12	23	(0.34–0.63)	(0.69–0.90)

Abbreviations: PET/CT, positron emission tomography fused with computed tomography; ePLND, extended pelvic lymph node dissection; N0, no lymph node metastases detected; N1, lymph node metastases detected; M0, no distant metastases detected; M1, distant metastases detected; CI, confidence interval.

One hundred twelve patients had a choline PET/CT scan and later also underwent an ePLND (Study II). A further 62 patients had undergone PET/CT scans but were excluded from the study due to evidence of extensive metastatic spread and intercurrent illness (Figure 6). The PET/CT scans detected suspected lymph node metastases in 33 (29%) of those subjects. Two additional patients (2%) had suspected bone metastases only. The ePLND revealed lymph node metastases in 48 (43%) of the patients. The median number of lymph nodes dissected were 12 (range 3–47). When all suspicious lymph nodes on PET/CT were taken into consideration, the sensitivity was 0.46 and the specificity 0.83; when the analysis was limited to the nodes within the template area of an ePLND, the corresponding values were 0.33 and 0.92 (Table 6). These results were similar to those reported by other investigators, although the sensitivity we found was somewhat lower (Table 7) [123,124,126,140–146].



Figure 6.

Exclusion diagram of Study II. A total of 62 patients were excluded from the study due either to extensive metastatic findings on the choline PET/CT scans or to intercurrent disease or death.

Table 7.

Summary of published studies comparing choline PET or PET/CT with lymphadenectomy. The weighted means were calculated by the formula $\frac{\sum W_i S_i}{\sum W_i}$,

where W_i is the number of patients in each study and S_i is the sensitivity or specificity noted in the respective investigations. Weighted means are given in two ways: only for the studies reported by other authors and for those investigations together with the present analysis showing any positive finding on ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT.

Study	Isotope	Scan	No. of patients	Risk groups	Proportion N1	Proportion positive scans	Mean no. of lymph nodes	Sensitivity	Specificity
Kotzerke2000 [124]	¹¹ C	PET	12	?	17%	17%	?	0.50	0.90
DeJong2003 [123]	¹¹ C	PET	67	I+H	22%	21%	?	0.80	0.96
Häcker2006* [126]	^{18}F	PET/CT	20	I+H	50%	5%	14	0.10	1.0
Schiavina2008 [140]	¹¹ C	PET/CT	57	I+H	26%	18%	16	0.60	0.98
Husarik2008 [141]	18 F	PET/CT	25	I+H	4%	14%	?	0.33	1.0
Steuber2010 [147]	^{18}F	PET/CT	20	Н	45%	0%	15	0.00	1.0
Beheshti2010* [142]	^{18}F	PET/CT	130	I+H	17%	14%	8	0.45	0.96
Contractor2011 [144]	¹¹ C	PET/CT	26	Н	35%	54%	16	0.78	0.82
Budiharto2011 [145]	¹¹ C	PET/CT	36	Н	47%	11%	20	0.19	0.95
Poulsen2012 [146]	18 F	PET/CT	210	I+H	20%	24%	5	0.73	0.88
Weighted mean								0.58	0.93
Weighted mean including the present study								0.57	0.91

* These two studies were published by the same authors, and the study period used in the first investigation was included in the second. Accordingly, only data from the second study was used to calculate the weighted means.

Abbreviations: N1, lymph node metastases confirmed by histopathology; PET, positron emission tomography; PET/CT, positron emission tomography fused with computed tomography; ?, unknown; I, intermediary risk; H, high risk.

Eighty-three patients underwent SN detection (Study IV), and at least one SN was detected in 72 (87%) of those subjects, whereas there were no detectable SNs in 11 (13%, 95% CI 8–22%) (Table 8). This proportion of non-detection of SNs was higher than in all except two previous studies (Table 9). In one of the two previous studies reporting no detectable SNs in more than 10% of the patients, all of the 13% reported cases of non-detection were in the first 72 patients in which a lower dose of tracer was used [148]. After increasing the dose from 60 to 200 MBq, they had no cases of non-detection in the last 28 patients. It is therefore possible that the tracer dose used in our study (100MBq) is not optimal. Additionally, the other three studies with the highest level of non-detection where all performed with laparoscopic surgery, as opposed to open surgery. It is possible that laparoscopic SN dissection is more technically challenging than open SN surgery, leading to a longer learning curve and therefore a higher proportion of non-detection. Finally, in a study comparing the value of pre-operative imaging in SN dissection, Warncke et al (2007) found that the non-detection rate was similar (1-2%) when performing preoperative scintigraphy compared with not performing any preoperative imaging, as was the number of dissected sentinel lymph nodes (median 8 per patient) [149]. It should be noted, however, that the number of patients was small, 36 in total, and that the 15 patients who were operated without imaging were the first in the series, such that the learning curve was a potential bias.

Of the 72 patients with detectable SNs, 99% were accurately staged based on the SNs, whereas at most 97% were accurately staged by the ePLND (Table 10). The SNs that were found in the ePLND specimens post-operatively were considered part of the ePLND results for this analysis, however it is not possible to determine whether the metastases would have been identified by the pathologists if only standard handling of the specimens had been performed. Thirteen patients (18%) had SNs outside the ePLND template. In six of these patients, the SNs outside the template contained metastases. Two patients had metastases only outside the ePLND template, and one patient had a metastasis within the template area but it showed no tracer uptake. Specificity was 1.0 for both methods, whereas the sensitivity for detecting metastases using SN detection was 0.96, with the combined results of both SN detection and ePLND as the reference test. The sensitivity of the method in our study is comparable to that of those previously published. The early results of Wawroscheck et al (2001) only showed a sensitivity of 0.84, but later in their series it was 0.94–0.99. It is possible that there was a significant learning curve affecting their results, but also that there are technical non-surgical factors that might need to be optimised, such as time from injection of tracer to detection, or where in the prostate the tracer is injected.

Table 8.

Clinical characteristics of the patients in Study IV, categorised according to the results of histopathology of the sentinel nodes.

	SN0	SN1	SNx
	n = 50	n = 22	n = 11
Age, years			
Mean (SD)	65.0 (6.4)	64.7 (6.4)	67.7 (5.2)
Median (range)	65.5 (43.2–75.8)	65.4 (6.4)	68.6 (56.9–74.9)
PSA, ng/mL			
Mean (SD)	18.2 (12.4)	23.1 (19.4)	30.6 (24.3)
Median (range)	15.5 (5.0-62)	19.0 (3.0–91)	21.0 (7.0–91)
Biopsy Gleason score , n (%)			
5–6	9 (18)	2 (9)	1 (9)
3+4	21 (42)	6 (27)	3 (27)
4+3	8 (16)	2 (9)	4 (36)
8-10	12 (24)	12 (55)	3 (27)
Clinical local tumour stage, n			
2	16 (32)	3 (14)	3 (27)
3	34 (68)	19 (86)	8 (73)
Mode of surgery, n			
Open	18* (36)	6 (27)	2 (18)
Laparoscopic	32 (64)	16(73)	9 (82)
No. of lymph nodes dissected , median (range)			
Open	19.0 (6–38)	19.5 (14–23)	17.0 (14-20)
Laparoscopic	13.0 (6–39)	12.0 (4-27)	9.0 (7-12)
Total	14.0 (6–39)	14.5 (4–27)	10.0 (7-20)
No. of sentinel nodes dissected , median (range)			
Open	2.0 (1-8)	4.0 (2–7)	_
Laparoscopic	2.0 (1-7)	2.0 (1-6)	-
Total	2.0 (1-8)	2.5 (1-7)	-
Pathological local tumour stage, n (%)			
2c	13 (76)	2 (33)	1 (50)
3a	4 (24)	2 (33)	1 (50)
3b	_	2 (33)	_

Abbreviations: SN0, sentinel lymph nodes not showing metastases; SN1, sentinel lymph nodes showing metastases; SNx, sentinel lymph nodes not detected; SD, standard deviation; *, including one patient who did not undergo radical prostatectomy.

Table 9.

Summary of previously published studies on SN detection.

Study	No. patients	Risk groups	Preoperative imaging	Percentage no detection of SN	Percentage N1	Sensitivity	Reference
Wawroscheck2001* [136]	117	I+H	Scint	3%	26%	0.84	Lim
Corvin2006 [137]	28	I+H	SPECT/CT	7%	25%	?	Lim
Fukuda2007 [150]	42	I+H	SPECT/CT	2%	31%	0.92	Ext
Weckermann2007* [151]	228	Н	Scint	0%	42%	0.98	Ext
Weckermann2007* [152]	1055	L+I+H	Scint	0%	20%	0.99	Ext
Jeschke2008 [153]	140	L+I+H	Scint	5%	14%	-	$FS \pm Ext$
Meinhardt2008 [154]	35	I+H	SPECT/CT	17%	40%	1.0	Ext
Bastide2009 [148]	100	L+I+H	Scint	13%	12%	1.0	Ext
Holl2009* [155]	2020	L+I+H	Scint	2%	17%	0.94	Ext
Rousseau2014 [156]	203	I+H	SPECT/CT	6%	17%	0.97	Ext

* These studies are from the same group and centre and likely contain many of the same patients.

Abbreviations: SN, sentinel node; N1, lymph node stage positive; L, low risk; I, intermediary risk; H, high risk; Lim, limited pelvic lymph node dissection; Ext, extended pelvic lymph node dissection; FS, frozen section analysis of sentinel nodes with extended lymphadenectomy only in case of positive findings.

Table 10.

Cross-table of SN detection and ePLND compared with the combined results of both methods. N0 is defined as neither of the methods finding metastases, while N1 is defined as either of the methods detecting metastases. (A) Results for the 72 patients with one or more detected sentinel nodes. (B) Results for all 83 patients classifying undetectable sentinel nodes as a negative result. Sensitivity is calculated for each method with 95% confidence intervals in parenthesis.

Negative 49 1	Positive 0	Negative 49	Positive 0
49 1	0	49	0
1	22		
	22	2	21
0.96 (0.76–1.0)		0.91 (0.70-0.98)	
57	0	57	0
4	22	2	24
0.85 (0.64-0.95)		0.92 (0.73-0.99)	
	57 4 0.85 (0.0	57 0 4 22 0.85 (0.64–0.95)	57 0 57 4 22 2

negative; N1, N stage positive.

Additional analyses

From the additional analyses of Study I it was found that in 13 patients (14%), choline PET/CT detected skeletal metastases that were confirmed by fluoride PET/CT (Table 4c). However, in six of those patients there was only a single skeletal uptake site, which would likely have required further confirmation before affecting the treatment decision. On the other hand, 24 patients with positive fluoride PET/CT findings had no skeletal uptake according to choline PET/CT, which could be regarded either as false-negative choline scans or false-positive fluoride scans. Using fluoride PET/CT findings as reference, sensitivity and specificity of choline PET/CT in detecting bone metastases were 0.35 (95% CI 0.21–0.53) and 0.98 (95% CI 0.89–1.0), respectively. However, it is likely that at least some of the fluoride PET/CT scans were false positive, and these figures do therefore arguably not represent the true diagnostic accuracy of choline PET/CT for bone metastases. The only other study specifically comparing choline and fluoride PET/CT available in the literature was conducted by Langsteger et al (2011) and showed sensitivity of 0.91 and specificity of 0.89 for choline PET/CT in detecting bone metastases, values that were similar to the values of 0.91 and 0.81 noted for fluoride PET/CT [143]. Additionally, Beheshti et al (2009) reported sensitivity 0.79 and specificity 0.97 for choline PET/CT in detecting bone metastases, but with a mixture of different imaging modalities used as reference tests. The fact that our investigation demonstrated lower sensitivity for choline PET/CT than did both of these cited studies could be explained by the pre-screening using planar bone scans that was part of our protocol (also discussed below). Notwithstanding, the difficulties in obtaining a reliable reference represented a limitation of all of these studies. These results would seem to suggest that choline PET/CT could be performed first, with fluoride PET/CT only performed if choline was inconclusive. They also imply that planar bone scans would not need to be used, because such bone metastases that would have been detected by a bone scan, would also have been detected by choline PET/CT. However, this hypothesis was not tested in any of the included studies, and there was no attempt at a cost-benefit analysis or any logistical considerations.

Table 11.

Results of logistic regression analysis of factors predictive of a combined result of multiple positive findings on choline and fluoride PET/CT. None of the factors except scintigraphy results were significant predictors in multivariate analysis. Age (years) and PSA (ng/mL) were analysed as continuous variables, all the other were analysed as categorical variables. The three variables with the lowest p-values were selected for multivariate analysis.

	Uni	variate	Mult	tivariate
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
Age	1.00	0.92-1.09		
PSA	1.00	0.98-1.03		
Biopsy Gleason score				
\leq 3+4	1 (reference)		1 (reference)	
4+3	1.24	0.17-9.25	0.57	0.03-9.75
8-10	5.57	1.40-22.1	4.20	0.83-21.3
Local tumour stage				
T1c	1 (reference)		1 (reference)	
T2	1.46	0.31-6.98	0.51	0.06-4.10
Т3	4.89	1.15-20.8	2.43	0.40-15.0
Bone scan				
Negative	1 (reference)		1 (reference)	
Inconclusive	24.0	2.91–198	49.1	3.77-640
Abbreviations: PSA	A, prostate-specific	antigen; OR, odds ra	tio; CI, confidence	interval.

There was a higher proportion of high-grade cancer (Gleason score 8–10) and locally advanced disease (T3) in the patients with multiple positive findings. However, in multivariate logistic regression analysis, an inconclusive bone scan was the only factor found to significantly predict multiple positive findings on either type of PET/CT scans (Table 11). It is highly likely that the lack of significant predictors can be explained by the small sample size (*i.e.*, a type II error), because according to validated nomograms the risk of actually having metastases is significantly increased by higher PSA, higher Gleason score, and locally more advanced tumour stage [75,77].

When we performed analysis covering any of the lymph node findings, a per-patient ROC analysis showed that 4.1 was the lowest SUV with specificity of 1.0, but

sensitivity was only 0.19 (Figure 7). Using 2.4 as SUV cut-off provided sensitivity 0.25 and specificity 0.97. Because no other studies in the literature have analysed SUVs, and because SUVs are not always comparable between centres, these exact values should be viewed with caution. Nonetheless, they do indicate that the diagnostic accuracy is affected by the level of uptake in suspected lesions and provide evidence that the patients in Study I, whose treatment was changed from curative to non-curative because of extensive findings, did indeed have metastases.



Figure 7.

Receiver operating characteristic curve of ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT with varying specific uptake values (SUVs). Analysis was performed on a per-patient basis with the highest SUV of any lymph node compared with the results of lymphadenectomy. With 2.1 as SUV cut-off, sensitivity is 0.46 and specificity is 0.83; with 3.2 as SUV cut-off, sensitivity is 0.21 and specificity is 0.98. Area under the curve is 0.65 with a 95% confidence interval of 0.55–0.76.

Logistic regression analysis comparing the patients with true-positive PET/CT scans (using 2.4 as SUV cut-off) and those with true-negative scans did not reveal any significant predictive factors (Table 12). Likewise, among the patients with any abnormal tracer uptake in a lymph node, there were no predictive factors for true positivity. Schiavina et al (2008) are the only investigators who have published an analysis of factors that potentially affect the detection rate of choline PET/CT in detecting lymph node metastases, and these authors found that a greater number and larger size of the metastases increased the chance of positive findings on PET/CT [140]. In other words, these results imply that the higher metastatic burden a patient has, the greater the chance of choline PET/CT being positive, which is perhaps not

a great surprise. As was mentioned earlier, this provides a possible explanation for the low sensitivity noted in Study II, compared with the other cited studies. Because only patients with a normal or inconclusive bone scan were included, the patients with the largest metastatic burden were excluded.

Table 12.

Results of logistic regression analysis to identify factors predictive of a true-positive ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT result with the SUV cut-off at 2.4. None of the factors were statistically significant. Age (years) and PSA (ng/mL) were analysed as continuous variables, biopsy Gleason score and local tumour stage were analysed as categorical variables.

	Un	ivariate	Mu	ltivariate
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
Age	1.08	0.96-1.21	1.07	0.93-1.22
PSA	1.02	0.99-1.05	1.04	0.99-1.08
Biopsy Gleason score				
\leq 3+4	1 (reference)		1 (reference)	
4+3	3.75	0.52-26.8	3.35	0.32-34.6
8-10	2.80	0.52-15.0	6.53	0.75-56.6
Local tumour stage				
T1c	1 (reference)		1 (reference)	
T2	0.62	0.08-4.95	0.49	0.05-4.61
T3	2.40	0.43-13.4	1.13	0.17-7.56
Abbreviations: PS	A, prostate-specifi	c antigen; OR, odds 1	atio; CI, confidenc	e interval.

Restaging after recurrence

Fifty-eight patients underwent choline PET/CT following BCR after RP (Study III), and 16 of those subjects (28%) had metastatic findings (Table 13). The PET/CT scans were positive for 12 of the 48 patients (25%) with PSA < 1.0, and for 8 of the 33 patients (24%) with PSA < 0.5. A summary of previously published investigations by other authors is presented in Table 15 [125,127–133,141,157–176]. In these studies, there was a large variation in the detection of both metastases and local recurrences, but also large differences in the inclusion criteria. Importantly, most of the cited studies included large proportions of patients who were receiving HT at the time of the PET/CT scans. Dost et al (2013) performed a review of the literature regarding HT and choline PET/CT, the results of which indicate that HT negatively affects the sensitivity of choline PET/CT in detecting prostate cancer metastases [177].

	All patients	No evidence of metastases	Any metastases
	n = 58	n = 42	n = 16
Age at surgery, years			
Mean (SD)	63.2 (±5.4)	61.9 (±5.3)	66.4 (±4.2)
Median (IQR)	63.9 (59.2–66.9)	61.9 (57.3–66.6)	65.4 (63.6–69.7)
pT , n (%)			
2	32 (55)	24 (57)	8 (50)
3a	13 (22)	8 (19)	5 (31)
3b	13 (22)	10 (24)	3 (19)
Surgical margin status, n (%)			
Negative	32 (55)	21 (50)	11 (69)
Positive	26 (45)	21 (50)	5 (31)
pN , n (%)			
Х	31 (53)	21 (50)	10 (63)
0	18 (31)	15 (36)	3 (19)
1	9 (16)	6 (14)	3 (19)
Prostatectomy Gleason score, n (%)			
5–6	3 (5)	3 (7)	-
3+4	26 (45)	18 (43)	8 (50)
4+3	19 (33)	14 (33)	5 (31)
8–10	10 (17)	7 (17)	3 (19)
Presence of Gleason grade 5 , n (%)			
Yes	11 (19)	9 (21)	2 (13)
No	47 (81)	33 (79)	14 (88)
PSA nadir (ng/mL), n (%)			
< 0.1	35 (60)	26 (62)	9 (56)
0.1 - 0.19	8 (14)	6 (14)	2 (13)
0.2 - 0.76	15 (26)	10 (24)	5 (31)
Time to relapse (months), n (%)			
< 12	12 (28)	9 (28)	3 (27)
12–24	13 (30)	10 (31)	3 (27)
> 24	18 (42)	13 (41)	5 (46)
PSA at PET/CT (ng/mL), n (%)			
< 0.5	33 (57)	25 (60)	8 (50)
0.5-0.99	15 (26)	11 (26)	4 (25)
1.0-1.49	6 (10)	4 (10)	2 (13)
1.5-1.99	4 (7)	2 (5)	2 (13)
PSA doubling time (months), n (%)			
< 3	11 (19)	7 (17)	4 (25)
3-6	20 (35)	15 (36)	5 (31)
6–12	15 (26)	10 (24)	5 (31)
> 12	. ,	. ,	
> 12	12 (21)	10 (24)	2 (13)

Table 13. Clinical characteristics of the patients in Study III categorised according to the results of ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT.

Abbreviations: pT, pathological T stage; pN, pathological N stage; SD, standard deviation; IQR, inter-quartile range; PSA, prostate-specific antigen; PET/CT, positron emission tomography fused with computed tomography.

A possible exception was for patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer, but these patients are generally not candidates for curative treatment in any case, and the clinical value of choline PET/CT in that setting can therefore be questioned. Additionally, most of the studies included patients who had previously received curative RT, and for whom there are no evidence-based curative treatment options, regardless of whether they have metastatic disease or not. Lastly, the PSA levels of the patients included in the studies were generally well above the levels at which salvage RT is recommended. The only other investigation which did not suffer from these limitations was performed by Giovacchini et al (2013), who found metastatic lesions in 15% of the patients [174].

Our study was not designed to determine the diagnostic accuracy of choline PET/CT for detecting prostate cancer metastases at BCR. There are no studies that prospectively provide follow-up for all patients who have undergone a PET/CT scan, but there are investigators that have performed a lymphadenectomy on those patients that had only a few suspected lymph node metastases on PET/CT. In one such study, Tilki et al (2013) noted a positive predictive value (PPV) of 0.86 [178]. However, the patients in that investigations had PSA levels ranging from 1.7 to 9.4, and would therefore have a high expected rate of metastases. Suardi et al (2014) performed a similar study in which they noted a PPV of 0.80 [179]. Interestingly, in this latter study, the salvage lymph node dissections resulted in complete biochemical response (*i.e.*, PSA less than 0.1) for 59% of the patients. Whereas this does not necessarily translate into improved survival for these patients, it does indicate that if metastases are properly detected, patients could potentially benefit from tailored treatment.

Both univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that older age was the only significantly predictive factor of a positive PET/CT scan (Table 14). However, our study was too small for anything more than a cursory analysis, and it is unclear if this result has any clinical implications. Castelluci et al (2014) recently performed the hitherto largest study of this group of patients, and found that PSA value and PSA doubling-time were independent significantly predictive factors for positive results on choline PET/CT, whereas age was not [176]. In other words, the patients who have a higher risk of metastatic disease are more likely to get a positive result on PET/CT [180].

Table 14.

Logistic regression analysis of the factors that may predict positive ¹⁸F-choline PET/CT results for patients with biochemical recurrence following radical prostatectomy. For multivariate analysis, the factors with the lowest p-values were selected. Only age was a significant predictor, both in univariate and multivariate analysis. Age at surgery (years) was analysed as a continuous variable, all other variables were analysed as categorical.

	U	nivariate		Multivariate
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
Age at surgery	1.20	1.05-1.38	1.25	1.07-1.46
рТ				
2	1 (reference)			
3	1.33	0.42-4.23		
Surgical margin status				
Negative	1 (reference)		1 (reference	2)
Positive	0.46	0.13-1.54	0.40	0.08-1.97
pN				
0	1 (reference)		1 (reference	2)
Х	2.38	0.56-10.2	3.60	0.65-20.0
1	2.50	0.39-16.0	7.75	0.78-77.0
Prostatectomy Gleason score				
\leq 3+4	1 (reference)			
4+3	0.94	0.25-3.46		
8–10	1.13	0.23-5.46		
Presence of Gleason grade 5				
No	1 (reference)		1 (reference	2)
Yes	0.52	0.10-2.74	0.86	0.13-5.83
PSA nadir (ng/mL)				
< 0.1	1 (reference)			
0.1-0.19	0.96	0.16-5.66		
0.2–0.76	1.44	0.39-5.38		
Time to relapse (months)				
< 12	1 (reference)			
12–24	0.90	0.14-5.65		
> 24	1.15	0.22-6.10		
PSA at PET/CT (ng/mL)				
< 0.5	1 (reference)			
0.5–0.99	1.14	0.28-4.58		
1.0–1.49	1.56	0.24-10.2		
1.5–1.99	3.13	0.38-25.9		
PSA doubling time (months)				
< 3	2.86	0.41-20.1		
3–6	1.67	0.27-10.3		
6–12	2.50	0.39–16.0		
> 12	1 (reference)			

Abbreviations: pT, pathological T stage; pN, pathological N stage; PSA, prostate-specific antigen; PET/CT, positron emission tomography fused with computed tomography.

Table 15.

Summary of studies on choline PET/CT following biochemical recurrence after primary treatment, published after the current study was started. Several studies are from the same centres and the same study groups, but have different inclusion criteria and are therefore presented separately. Some of the studies did not report separate results for metastatic findings and findings in the prostatic fossa, and they are therefore presented combined.

	No. patients									
Investigation	Centre	Isotope	RP	RT	Other	Total	% hormone naïve	PSA (ng/mL) median (range)	% local findings	% metastatic findings
Picchio2003 [128]	Milano, I	¹¹ C	77	23	-	100	?	6.6 (0.1–171)	10%	37%
DeJong2003 [129]	Groningen, NL	¹¹ C	13	9	-	22	100%	5.0 (0.5-120)	36%	36%
Yoshida2006 [125]	Hamakita, JP	¹¹ C	5	3	-	8	38%	5.7 (0.2–11)	25%	50%
Heinisch2006 [130]	Linz, A	¹⁸ F	31	3	-	34	53%	?	?	?
Cimitan2006 [131]	Aviano, I	¹⁸ F	58	21	21	100	36%	48 (0.2–512)	24%	44%
Rinnab2007 [132]	Ulm, D	¹¹ C	41	-	-	41	90%	2.1 (0.4–12)	56%	32%
Vees2007 [133]	Geneve, CH	¹⁸ F	11	-	-	11	100%	0.4 (0.1–0.7)	45%	0%
Eschmann2007 [127]	Tübingen, D	¹¹ C	?	?	?	25	?	?	?	?
Husarik2008 [141]	Zürich, CH	¹⁸ F	26	8	34	68	81%	11 (0.4–100)	53%	56%
Krause2008 [157]	Munich, D	¹¹ C	42	21	-	63	73%	2.2 (0.2–39)	38%	24%
Reske2008 [158]	Ulm, D	¹¹ C	36	-	-	36	81%	2.0 (0.3–12)	67%	-
Pelosi2008 [159]	Turin, I	¹⁸ F	56	-	-	56	100%	4.6 (0.1–39)	10%	36%
Rinnab2009 [160]	Ulm, D	¹¹ C	32	-	9	41	90%	2.1 (0.4–12)	56%	32%
Castellucci2009 [161]	Bologna, I	¹¹ C	190	-	-	190	89%	2.1 (0.2–25)	4%	35%
Zuazu2009 [162]	Pamplona, E	¹¹ C	63	29	-	92	?	3.9	?	?
Giovacchini2010 [163]	Milano, I	¹¹ C	358	-	-	358	57%	1.3 (0.2–45)	15%	36%
Bertagna2011 [164]	Brescia, I	¹¹ C	140	70	-	210	65%	5.9	:	55%
Castellucci2011 [165]	Bologna, I	¹¹ C	102	_	-	102	84%	0.9 (0.2–1.5)	7%	22%
Graute2012 [166]	Munich, D	¹⁸ F	82	-	-	82	90%	4.4 (0.03–36)	24%	39%
Fuccio2012 [167]	Bologna, I	¹¹ C	123	-	-	123	82%	3.3 (0.2–26)	2%	32%
Schillaci2012 [168]	Rome, I	¹⁸ F	49	-	-	49	100%	4.1 (0.09–16)	12%	59%
Panebianco2012 [169]	Rome, I	¹⁸ F	84	-	-	84	100%	?	?	36%
Rybalov2013 [170]	Groningen, NL	¹¹ C	61	124	-	185	100%	5 (0.2–20)	43%	24%

Table 15.(Continued)

		No. patients				_				
Investigation	Centre	Isotope	RP	RT	Other	Total	% hormone naïve	PSA (ng/mL) median (range)	% local findings	% metastatic findings
Detti2013 [171]	Florence, I	18 F	126	40	4	170	81%	3.5 (0.09–98)	35%	61%
Nanni2013 [172]	Bologna, I	¹¹ C	28	-	-	28	100%	1.5 (0.2–15)	4%	14%
Mitchell2013 [173]	Rochester, US	¹¹ C	127	41	8	176	?	7.2 (2.2–1000)	7	'5%
Giovacchini2013 [174]	Milano, I	¹¹ C	75	-	-	75	100%	0.6 (0.2–1.5)	9%	15%
Afshar-Oromieh2014 [175]	Heidelberg, D	18 F	?	?	?	37	?	? (0.01–116)	7	'0%
Castellucci2014 [176]	Bologna, I	¹¹ C	605	-	-	605	75%	1.1 (0.2–2.0)	6%	23%
Abbreviations: RP, radical prostatectomy; RT, radiation therapy; PSA prostate-specific antigen; ?, unknown.										

General discussion

Determining the reliability of a new diagnostic modality requires a good reference test to determine "the truth", otherwise the results may be misleading. In the case of Study II, ePLND was used as reference, despite that Study IV and other SN investigations have established that not all primary metastatic landing sites are located within the ePLND template. This could have led to erroneous classifications of false-negatives and false-positives both. To compensate, we classified the choline uptake sites as within or outside the ePLND template, but anatomical variations and differences in technique between surgeons make direct comparisons between imaging and ePLND difficult, which leads to uncertainty regarding the sensitivity and specificity values both in this and other studies.

Table 16.

Negative and positive predictive values at various prevalence rates for tests with different diagnostic accuracies. The first column represents the pooled averages of the published investigations, while the other two columns represent the results of Study II with SUV cut-off values of 3.2 and 2.1, respectively.

Sensitivity	().57	().21	0.46		
Specificity	0.91		0).98	0.83		
Prevalence	NPV	PPV	NPV	PPV	NPV	PPV	
5%	0.98	0.25	0.96	0.36	0.97	0.12	
10%	0.95	0.41	0.92	0.54	0.93	0.23	
15%	0.92	0.53	0.88	0.65	0.90	0.32	
20%	0.89	0.61	0.83	0.72	0.86	0.40	
25%	0.86	0.68	0.79	0.78	0.82	0.47	
30%	0.83	0.73	0.74	0.82	0.78	0.54	
35%	0.80	0.77	0.70	0.85	0.74	0.59	
40%	0.76	0.81	0.65	0.88	0.70	0.64	
45%	0.72	0.84	0.60	0.90	0.65	0.69	
50%	0.68	0.86	0.55	0.91	0.61	0.73	
Abbreviations: NPV, negative predictive value; PPV, positive predictive value.							

How will our results from Study II affect the clinical management of future prostate cancer patients with results from choline PET/CT scans? The negative (NPV) and positive predictive values represent the post-test probabilities of a true result in

patients with either a negative or a positive scan, and are both highly dependent on the pre-test risk (*i.e.*, the prevalence of the condition). Table 16 summarises NPVs and PPVs of choline PET/CT at various rates of metastatic disease, using the results of the pooled average of the available investigations, and also with the results of the current study at two SUV cut-offs. For a given sensitivity and specificity PPV increases with an increasing prevalence, whereas NPV decreases. The prevalence of metastatic disease can, in the setting of primary staging, be estimated using for example the Briganti nomogram or the Partin table. However, the reported sensitivity and specificity for PET/CT represent the averages of all the studied patients' test results. Patients with a single low-grade uptake will have a lower PPV than patients with multiple high-grade uptakes, and this should affect the interpretation of the PET/CT findings for clinical decision-making.

A limitation of Study I and III was that the protocols did not include any verification of the positive PET/CT findings. Therefore, it was not certain that the patients whose management were changed did in fact have metastases. This was to some extent mitigated by Study II, which showed a high specificity, leading to a high PPV, for choline PET/CT in detecting prostate cancer metastases. The results of Study II also demonstrated that using higher tracer uptake cut-off for defining metastases of suspected nodes resulted in higher specificity. The patients whose management was changed in Study I all had multiple sites with highly pathological uptake, and most had positive findings on both PET/CT scans. Therefore, the conclusion must be that, despite the lack of histopathological verification, there was a very high probability that they had significant metastatic disease. One of the main limitations of Study II was that the patients with extensive uptake had been excluded, and hence it was not possible to determine to what extent a high number of pathological tracer uptake sites would increase specificity for defining metastatic disease. There was also a large proportion of patients who did not undergo ePLND due to intercurrent disease or death. In Study III, we did not assess whether the choline PET/CT scan led to any change in management, only what proportion of patients with BCR and low PSA levels had positive findings. Given the results that more than a quarter of the patients included in the study did indeed have suspected metastases, it is reasonable to conclude that further studies of the reliability of choline PET/CT in that setting are warranted. A general limitation of the PET/CT studies was that, although the enrolment was prospective according to the protocols, outcome data was collected retrospectively. Also, for Study II the reviews of the PET/CT scans were done in a blinded fashion, but the urologists performing the ePLNDs were not blinded to the results of the PET/CT, and the surgical technique might therefore have been changed for individual patients. Furthermore, the CT results in Study I were not evaluated separately. It is possible that CT scans would have detected a large proportion of the patients with extensive metastatic disease.

A limitation of Study IV was that the SNs within the ePLND template were not dissected separately in-vivo but were detected ex-vivo after ePLND had been

performed. Whether the large proportion of non-detection of SNs is a limitation of the simplified SN technique or a part of the learning-curve in our study is uncertain. Almost all other SN studies also had some patients where the SNs were not detectable, and this begs the question how this outcome should be handled in clinical practice. One difficulty in answering that question is that there is currently very little evidence regarding the benefits of lymphadenectomy. There are retrospective analyses that imply that CSM is similar in patients with one or two lymph node metastases and patients with no metastases, while patients with more than two metastases have significantly worse prognosis [181–183]. Whether these results represent selection bias, a benefit from removing the metastases, or simply differences in total cancer volume is unclear. If removing the metastases is indeed beneficial, it would imply that at least patients with high risk of metastases should undergo an ePLND if no SNs are detected. Furthermore, an implication would also be that patients with metastases in the SNs should have an ePLND. A further limitation was that the additional operating time for performing the SN detection was not quantified.

Conclusions

- A large proportion of patients with high-risk prostate cancer and a negative or inconclusive bone scan have metastases detectable by choline or fluoride PET/CT. For some of these patients the extent of metastatic disease led to withholding of a local treatment that may have been unnecessary. Both PET/CT tracers may detect metastases that the other tracer does not.
- Choline PET/CT may be a valuable diagnostic tool for detecting lymph node metastases of prostate cancer. Its main limitations are a low sensitivity and a low PPV.
- Choline PET/CT indicates metastases in a large proportion of patients with BCR following RP, even at PSA levels below 1–2 ng/mL.
- Sentinel node detection with a simplified protocol is feasible and defines the N stage at least as well as ePLND.

Future perspectives

Our studies of PET/CT mainly assessed the use of choline as tracer for metastases of prostate cancer. The results seem to imply an improvement over earlier modalities, although there are still limitations primarily stemming from low sensitivity. Also, a recent report from the Swedish Council on Health Technology Assessment (SBU) indicated that there is still a relative lack of high-quality data on choline PET/CT for prostate cancer [184]. This lack of data should be remedied in a larger multi-centre investigation of consecutive patients with high-risk prostate cancer who would all undergo ePLND regardless of PET/CT findings. From an ethical perspective that might not possible for patients with evidence of extensive metastases however, given the knowledge that already exists today. Ideally, such a study would randomise patients between performing and not performing choline PET/CT and observe outcome, such as CSM, after tailored treatments. Such a study design would be applicable both for patients with a primary diagnosis of prostate cancer and for patients with BCR following RP. For fluoride PET/CT histopathological validation of suspected bone metastases remains a difficulty, but a randomised outcome trial could be feasible as well.

An exciting development is that of target therapies, such as radiotherapy or surgical excision, for oligo-metastatic disease detected by choline PET/CT [179,185,186]. Such treatments should be evaluated in prospective randomised controlled trials. Furthermore, there are other tracers than choline and fluoride which show promise in increasing both sensitivity and specificity. In particular, the synthetic L-leucine analogue anti-3-¹⁸F-FACBC has been assessed in a few preliminary investigations with promising results, and further research will hopefully clarify this [187]. There is also a potential for entirely new tracers.

For SN dissection, further prospective studies are needed. Our study only evaluated the diagnostic utility of identifying the SNs, not whether all SNs could be dissected in-vivo. There are reports of SN dissection based on large, single-centre series, but these should be confirmed in larger multi-centre trials [155]. A randomised, multi-centre trial comparing SN dissection and ePLND, with the proportion of patients with detected lymph node metastases as the primary endpoint, would be feasible. Ideally, such a trial could also include an arm with no lymphadenectomy, to assess the effect of removing lymph node metastases and improving N-staging on BCR rates, time to distant metastases and CSM.

A combination of radio-guided and fluorescence-guided surgery has been used with the aim to decrease the non-detection of SNs, with promising preliminary results [188,189]. This approach should be explored further, perhaps also with an optimised tracer dose, which may further decrease non-detection of SNs. Recently, there has also been a report of SN dissection using ferro-magnetic nano-particles, detectable with a hand-held magnetometer, as the tracer [190]. Furthermore, rates and grades of complications related to SN dissection need to be assessed, preferably using the Clavien system.

In conclusion, the field of research on the detection of prostate cancer metastases has advanced in the last few years, not least through our studies. Choline and fluoride PET/CT can be used in selected patients with prostate cancer, but the respective limitations need consideration. SN dissection still needs further research before it can become a routine procedure for men with prostate cancer.

Summary in Swedish

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Prostatacancer är idag den vanligast diagnostiserade cancerformen i Sverige. De flesta nya fallen som upptäcks är lokaliserade till prostatan och kan i hög utsträckning botas med antingen operation eller strålbehandling. För en del män har dock prostatacancern hunnit sprida sig redan vid diagnos och då är chansen till bot mycket liten. Vid utbredd spridning, så kallad metastasering, är risken för bieffekter och komplikationer av operation eller strålbehandling större än nyttan. Det är därför av stor vikt att utbredningen av cancern fastställs innan behandlingen påbörjas.

Utredning av metastaser sker i första hand med skelettscintigrafi för att upptäcka skelettmetastaser och lymfkörtelutrymning, ett kirurgiskt ingrepp för att upptäcka lymfkörtelmetastaser. Båda metoderna har dock klara begränsningar och för lymfkörtelutrymning finns dessutom risk för komplikationer.

Positron-emissions-tomografi kombinerat med datortomografi (PET/DT) är en icke-invasiv metod för metastasdiagnostik. Fluorid och kolin är två PET/DT-markörer med olika egenskaper. Fluorid kan enbart upptäcka skelettmetastaser medan kolin kan upptäcka metastaser i hela kroppen.

Portvaktskörtelkirurgi är ett sätt att selektivt operera ut de lymfkörtlar som har störst risk att innehålla metastaser. Därigenom kan man möjligen slippa en del av biverkningarna av en hel lymfkörtelutrymning och möjligen också upptäcka metastaser som ligger utanför området för lymfkörtelutrymning.

I våra studier har vi jämfört kolin-PET/DT och fluorid-PET/DT och studerat den kliniska nyttan av dessa två undersökningar när skelettscintigrafi har varit normal eller osäker. Vi har också undersökt tillförlitligheten hos både kolin-PET/DT och portvaktskörtelkirurgi för att upptäcka lymfkörtelmetastaser, genom att jämföra med vanlig lymfkörtelutrymning. Slutligen har vi undersökt den kliniska nyttan av kolin-PET/DT hos patienter med återfall i prostatacancer efter tidigare operation i botande syfte.

Våra resultat visade att både kolin-PET/DT och fluorid-PET/DT var för sig kan indikera metastaser som den andra undersökningen missar. Tjugo procent av patienterna hade så stor metastasutbredning synlig på PET/DT att den planerade botande behandlingen avstyrdes. Kolin-PET/DT hade en hög tillförlitlighet om
undersökningen visade ett kraftigt upptag av kolin i en lymfkörtel, men högst hälften av patienterna med metastaser upptäcktes. Portvaktskörtelkirurgi var åtminstone lika tillförlitligt som lymfkörtelutrymning, men hos 13 % av patienterna kunde man inte återfinna någon portvaktskörtel. Vid återfall efter operation talade kolin-PET/DT för metastaser hos 28 % av patienterna med prostata-specifikt antigen (PSA) < 2 ng/mL och 24 % av patienterna med PSA < 1 ng/mL.

Slutsatsen är att PET/DT, med kolin eller fluorid som markörer, och portvaktskörtelkirurgi kan vara värdefulla diagnostiska metoder, men deras begränsningar måste beaktas.

Acknowledgements

Ola Bratt, my PhD supervisor. Thank you for your patient encouragement and for all the sharing of your knowledge and wisdom! You are a true role model.

Fredrik Liedberg, my PhD co-supervisor. Thank you for guiding me to this field and for all the help and support!

The **co-authors** of the papers. Thank you for all your valuable contributions!

My **colleagues and co-workers** at the Department of Surgery, Växjö Hospital. Thank you for your support!

Patricia Ödman. Thank you for helping me make my papers legible!

Dr Agostino Mattei & Prof. Urs Studer. Thank you for kindly letting me use your excellent schematic anatomical image of the pelvis!

Cancerstiftelsen i Kronobergs län, The Swedish Cancer Society, FoU Kronoberg, Region Skånes FoU-enhet & **Philips**. Thank you for the funding that has allowed me to carry out this research and complete my thesis!

References

- Howlader N, Noone A, Krapcho M, Garshell J, Neyman N, Altekruse S, et al. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2010 [Internet]. National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD. 2013 [cited 2014 May 9]. Available from: http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2010/
- 2. Official Statistics of Sweden. Cancer Incidence in Sweden 2012. 2014.
- Cancer Research UK. Prostate cancer statistics [Internet]. [cited 2014 Jun 28]. Available from: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerinfo/cancerstats/types/prostate
- 4. Official Statistics of Sweden. Causes of Death 2013. 2014.
- De Angelis R, Sant M, Coleman MP, Francisci S, Baili P, Pierannunzio D, et al. Cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007 by country and age: results of EUROCARE--5-a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2014; 15(1):23–34.
- 6. Regionala CancerCentrum i Samverkan. Nationell kvalitetsrapport för diagnosår 2012 från NPCR. 2013.
- 7. Grignon DJ. Unusual subtypes of prostate cancer. Mod Pathol. 2004; 17(3):316–27.
- Gleason DF. Classification of prostatic carcinomas. Cancer Chemother Rep. 1966; 50(3):125–8.
- 9. Epstein JI, Allsbrook WC, Amin MB, Egevad LL. The 2005 International Society of Urological Pathology (ISUP) Consensus Conference on Gleason Grading of Prostatic Carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005; 29(9):1228–42.
- 10. Huggins C, Hodges C. Studies on prostate cancer. I. The effect of castration, of estrogen and of androgen injection on serum phosphatases in metastatic carcinoma of the prostate. Cancer Res. 1941; (1).
- 11. Shafi A a, Yen AE, Weigel NL. Androgen receptors in hormone-dependent and castration-resistant prostate cancer. Pharmacol Ther. 2013; 140(3):223–38.
- 12. Wang MC, Valenzuela LA, Murphy GP, Chu TM. Purification of a human prostate specific antigen. Invest Urol. 1979; 17(2):159–63.
- 13. Catalona WJ, Smith DS, Ratliff TL, Dodds KM, Coplen DE, Yuan JJ, et al. Measurement of prostate-specific antigen in serum as a screening test for prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 1991; 324(17):1156–61.
- Thompson IM, Ankerst DP, Chi C, Goodman PJ, Tangen CM, Lucia MS, et al. Assessing prostate cancer risk: results from the Prostate Cancer Prevention Trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006; 98(8):529–34.
- 15. Vickers AJ, Cronin AM, Björk T, Manjer J, Nilsson PM, Dahlin A, et al. Prostate specific antigen concentration at age 60 and death or metastasis from prostate cancer: case-control study. BMJ. 2010; 341:c4521.
- 16. UICC. TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours, 7th Edition. 2009.

- Varenhorst E, Berglund K, Löfman O, Pedersen K. Inter-observer variation in assessment of the prostate by digital rectal examination. Br J Urol. 1993; 72(2):173– 6.
- 18. Enlund A, Pedersen K, Boeryd B, Varenhorst E. Transrectal ultrasonography compared to histopathological assessment for local staging of prostatic carcinoma. Acta Radiol. 1990; 31(6):597–600.
- 19. May F, Treumann T, Dettmar P, Hartung R, Breul J. Limited value of endorectal magnetic resonance imaging and transrectal ultrasonography in the staging of clinically localized prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2001; 87(1):66–9.
- Wang HT, Yao YH, Li BG, Tang Y, Chang JW, Zhang J. Neuroendocrine Prostate Cancer (NEPC) Progressing From Conventional Prostatic Adenocarcinoma: Factors Associated With Time to Development of NEPC and Survival From NEPC Diagnosis-A Systematic Review and Pooled Analysis. J Clin Oncol. (2014), In press http://dx.doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.54.3553.
- D'Amico a V, Whittington R, Malkowicz SB, Schultz D, Blank K, Broderick G a, et al. Biochemical outcome after radical prostatectomy, external beam radiation therapy, or interstitial radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. JAMA. 1998; 280(11):969–74.
- 22. Boorjian S a, Karnes RJ, Rangel LJ, Bergstralh EJ, Blute ML. Mayo Clinic validation of the D'amico risk group classification for predicting survival following radical prostatectomy. J Urol. 2008; 179(4):1354–60; discussion 1360–1.
- 23. Bill-Axelson A, Holmberg L, Filén F, Ruutu M, Garmo H, Busch C, et al. Radical prostatectomy versus watchful waiting in localized prostate cancer: the Scandinavian prostate cancer group-4 randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008; 100(16):1144–54.
- 24. Bill-Axelson A, Holmberg L, Garmo H, Rider JR, Taari K, Busch C, et al. Radical prostatectomy or watchful waiting in early prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2014; 370(10):932–42.
- 25. Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien P. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg. 2004; 240(2):205–13.
- 26. Rabbani F, Yunis LH, Pinochet R, Nogueira L, Vora KC, Eastham J a, et al. Comprehensive standardized report of complications of retropubic and laparoscopic radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol. 2010; 57(3):371–86.
- 27. Novara G, Ficarra V, Rosen RC, Artibani W, Costello A, Eastham J a, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of perioperative outcomes and complications after robot-assisted radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol. 2012; 62(3):431–52.
- Ficarra V, Novara G, Artibani W, Cestari A, Galfano A, Graefen M, et al. Retropubic, laparoscopic, and robot-assisted radical prostatectomy: a systematic review and cumulative analysis of comparative studies. Eur Urol. 2009; 55(5):1037– 63.
- Widmark A, Klepp O, Solberg A, Damber J-E, Angelsen A, Fransson P, et al. Endocrine treatment, with or without radiotherapy, in locally advanced prostate cancer (SPCG-7/SFUO-3): an open randomised phase III trial. Lancet. 2009; 373(9660):301–8.

- 30. Warde P, Mason M, Ding K, Kirkbride P, Brundage M, Cowan R, et al. Combined androgen deprivation therapy and radiation therapy for locally advanced prostate cancer: a randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2011; 378(9809):2104–11.
- 31. Hunter GK, Reddy C a, Klein E a, Kupelian P, Angermeier K, Ulchaker J, et al. Long-term (10-year) gastrointestinal and genitourinary toxicity after treatment with external beam radiotherapy, radical prostatectomy, or brachytherapy for prostate cancer. Prostate Cancer. 2012; 2012:853487.
- 32. Fransson P, Damber JE, Tomic R, Modig H, Nyberg G, Widmark A. Quality of life and symptoms in a randomized trial of radiotherapy versus deferred treatment of localized prostate carcinoma. Cancer. 2001; 92(12):3111–9.
- 33. Suriano F, Altobelli E, Sergi F, Buscarini M. Bladder Cancer After Radiotherapy for Prostate Cancer. Rev Urol. 2013; 15(3):108–12.
- Lee JY, Cho KS, Kwon JK, Jeh SU, Kang HW, Diaz RR, et al. A Competing Risk Analysis of Cancer-Specific Mortality of Initial Treatment with Radical Prostatectomy versus Radiation Therapy in Clinically Localized High-Risk Prostate Cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. (2014), In press http://dx.doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-3780-9.
- 35. Sooriakumaran P, Nyberg T, Akre O, Haendler L, Heus I, Olsson M, et al. Comparative effectiveness of radical prostatectomy and radiotherapy in prostate cancer: observational study of mortality outcomes. BMJ. 2014; 348:g1502.
- 36. Nair B, Wilt T, MacDonald R, Rutks I. Early versus deferred androgen suppression in the treatment of advanced prostatic cancer. Cochrane database Syst Rev. 2001; (4).
- 37. Heidenreich A, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Joniau S, Mason M, Matveev V, et al. EAU guidelines on prostate cancer. Part 1: screening, diagnosis, and treatment of clinically localised disease. Eur Urol. 2011; 59(1):61–71.
- Bolla M, Collette L, Blank L, Warde P, Dubois JB, Mirimanoff R-O, et al. Longterm results with immediate androgen suppression and external irradiation in patients with locally advanced prostate cancer (an EORTC study): a phase III randomised trial. Lancet. 2002; 360(9327):103–6.
- Pilepich M V, Winter K, Lawton C a, Krisch RE, Wolkov HB, Movsas B, et al. Androgen suppression adjuvant to definitive radiotherapy in prostate carcinomalong-term results of phase III RTOG 85-31. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005; 61(5):1285–90.
- 40. National Collaborating Centre for Cancer (UK). Prostate cancer: diagnosis and treatment. 2008.
- 41. Saylor PJ, Smith MR. Metabolic complications of androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. J Urol. 2009; 181(5):1998–2006; discussion 2007–8.
- 42. Iversen P, McLeod DG, See W a, Morris T, Armstrong J, Wirth MP. Antiandrogen monotherapy in patients with localized or locally advanced prostate cancer: final results from the bicalutamide Early Prostate Cancer programme at a median follow-up of 9.7 years. BJU Int. 2010; 105(8):1074–81.
- 43. Heidenreich A, Bastian PJ, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Joniau S, van der Kwast T, et al. EAU guidelines on prostate cancer. Part II: Treatment of advanced, relapsing, and castration-resistant prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2014; 65(2):467–79.

- 44. Stephenson AJ, Kattan MW, Eastham J a, Dotan Z a, Bianco FJ, Lilja H, et al. Defining biochemical recurrence of prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy: a proposal for a standardized definition. J Clin Oncol. 2006; 24(24):3973–8.
- Cookson MS, Aus G, Burnett AL, Canby-Hagino ED, D'Amico A V, Dmochowski RR, et al. Variation in the definition of biochemical recurrence in patients treated for localized prostate cancer. J Urol. 2007; 177(2):540–5.
- Kattan MW, Vickers AJ, Yu C, Bianco FJ, Cronin AM, Eastham J a, et al. Preoperative and postoperative nomograms incorporating surgeon experience for clinically localized prostate cancer. Cancer. 2009; 115(5):1005–10.
- 47. O'Brien B a, Cohen RJ, Wheeler TM, Moorin RE. A post-radical-prostatectomy nomogram incorporating new pathological variables and interaction terms for improved prognosis. BJU Int. 2011; 107(3):389–95.
- 48. Freedland SJ, Humphreys EB, Mangold LA, Eisenberger M, Dorey FJ, Walsh PC, et al. Risk of prostate cancer-specific mortality following biochemical recurrence after radical prostatectomy. JAMA. 2005; 294(4):433–9.
- 49. Pound CR, Partin AW, Eisenberger MA, Chan DW, Pearson JD, Walsh PC. Natural history of progression after PSA elevation following radical prostatectomy. JAMA. 1999; 281(17):1591–7.
- 50. Horwitz EM, Levy LB, Thames HD, Kupelian PA, Martinez AA, Michalski JM, et al. Biochemical and clinical significance of the posttreatment prostate-specific antigen bounce for prostate cancer patients treated with external beam radiation therapy alone: a multiinstitutional pooled analysis. Cancer. 2006; 107(7):1496–502.
- 51. Roach M, Hanks G, Thames H, Schellhammer P, Shipley WU, Sokol GH, et al. Defining biochemical failure following radiotherapy with or without hormonal therapy in men with clinically localized prostate cancer: recommendations of the RTOG-ASTRO Phoenix Consensus Conference. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006; 65(4):965–74.
- 52. Wiegel T, Bottke D, Steiner U, Siegmann A, Golz R, Störkel S, et al. Phase III postoperative adjuvant radiotherapy after radical prostatectomy compared with radical prostatectomy alone in pT3 prostate cancer with postoperative undetectable prostate-specific antigen: ARO 96-02/AUO AP 09/95. J Clin Oncol. 2009; 27(18):2924–30.
- 53. Thompson IM, Tangen CM, Paradelo J, Lucia MS, Miller G, Troyer D, et al. Adjuvant radiotherapy for pathological T3N0M0 prostate cancer significantly reduces risk of metastases and improves survival: long-term followup of a randomized clinical trial. J Urol. 2009; 181(3):956–62.
- 54. King CR. The timing of salvage radiotherapy after radical prostatectomy: a systematic review. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012; 84(1):104–11.
- 55. Pfister D, Bolla M, Briganti A, Carroll P, Cozzarini C, Joniau S, et al. Early salvage radiotherapy following radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol. 2014; 65(6):1034–43.
- 56. Pisters LL, von Eschenbach a C, Scott SM, Swanson D a, Dinney CP, Pettaway C a, et al. The efficacy and complications of salvage cryotherapy of the prostate. J Urol. 1997; 157(3):921–5.

- 57. Stephenson AJ, Scardino PT, Bianco FJ, Eastham JA. Salvage therapy for locally recurrent prostate cancer after external beam radiotherapy. Curr Treat Options Oncol. 2004; 5(5):357–65.
- 58. Mouraviev V, Spiess PE, Jones JS. Salvage cryoablation for locally recurrent prostate cancer following primary radiotherapy. Eur Urol. 2012; 61(6):1204–11.
- 59. Uddin Ahmed H, Cathcart P, Chalasani V, Williams A, McCartan N, Freeman A, et al. Whole-gland salvage high-intensity focused ultrasound therapy for localized prostate cancer recurrence after external beam radiation therapy. Cancer. 2012; 118(12):3071–8.
- 60. Pisters LL, Leibovici D, Blute M, Zincke H, Sebo TJ, Slezak JM, et al. Locally recurrent prostate cancer after initial radiation therapy: a comparison of salvage radical prostatectomy versus cryotherapy. J Urol. 2009; 182(2):517–25; discussion 525–7.
- 61. Chade DC, Eastham J, Graefen M, Hu JC, Karnes RJ, Klotz L, et al. Cancer control and functional outcomes of salvage radical prostatectomy for radiation-recurrent prostate cancer: a systematic review of the literature. Eur Urol. 2012; 61(5):961–71.
- 62. Heidenreich A, Richter S, Thüer D, Pfister D. Prognostic parameters, complications, and oncologic and functional outcome of salvage radical prostatectomy for locally recurrent prostate cancer after 21st-century radiotherapy. Eur Urol. 2010; 57(3):437–43.
- 63. Moul JW, Wu H, Sun L, McLeod DG, Amling C, Donahue T, et al. Early versus delayed hormonal therapy for prostate specific antigen only recurrence of prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy. J Urol. 2008; 179(5 Suppl):S53–9.
- 64. Tenenholz TC, Shields C, Ramesh VR, Tercilla O, Hagan MP. Survival benefit for early hormone ablation in biochemically recurrent prostate cancer. Urol Oncol. 2007; 25(2):101–9.
- 65. Mydin AR, Dunne MT, Finn M a, Armstrong JG. Early salvage hormonal therapy for biochemical failure improved survival in prostate cancer patients after neoadjuvant hormonal therapy plus radiation therapy--a secondary analysis of irish clinical oncology research group 97-01. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013; 85(1):101–8.
- 66. Rider JR, Sandin F, Andrén O, Wiklund P, Hugosson J, Stattin P. Long-term outcomes among noncuratively treated men according to prostate cancer risk category in a nationwide, population-based study. Eur Urol. 2013; 63(1):88–96.
- 67. Engel J, Bastian PJ, Baur H, Beer V, Chaussy C, Gschwend JE, et al. Survival benefit of radical prostatectomy in lymph node-positive patients with prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2010; 57(5):754–61.
- 68. Steuber T, Budäus L, Walz J, Zorn KC, Schlomm T, Chun F, et al. Radical prostatectomy improves progression-free and cancer-specific survival in men with lymph node positive prostate cancer in the prostate-specific antigen era: a confirmatory study. BJU Int. 2011; 107(11):1755–61.
- 69. Pommier P, Chabaud S, Lagrange JL, Richaud P, Lesaunier F, Le Prise E, et al. Is there a role for pelvic irradiation in localized prostate adenocarcinoma? Preliminary results of GETUG-01. J Clin Oncol. 2007; 25(34):5366–73.
- 70. Roach M, DeSilvio M, Valicenti R, Grignon D, Asbell SO, Lawton C, et al. Wholepelvis, "mini-pelvis," or prostate-only external beam radiotherapy after neoadjuvant

and concurrent hormonal therapy in patients treated in the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 9413 trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006; 66(3):647–53.

- 71. Studer UE, Whelan P, Albrecht W, Casselman J, de Reijke T, Hauri D, et al. Immediate or deferred androgen deprivation for patients with prostate cancer not suitable for local treatment with curative intent: European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Trial 30891. J Clin Oncol. 2006; 24(12):1868– 76.
- 72. McLeod DG, Iversen P, See W a, Morris T, Armstrong J, Wirth MP. Bicalutamide 150 mg plus standard care vs standard care alone for early prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2006; 97(2):247–54.
- 73. Sweeney C, Chen YH, Carducci MA, Liu G, Jarrard DF, Eisenberger MA, et al. Impact on overall survival (OS) with chemohormonal therapy versus hormonal therapy for hormone-sensitive newly metastatic prostate cancer (mPrCa): An ECOGled phase III randomized trial. J Clin Oncol. 2014; 32:5s (suppl; abstr LBA2).
- 74. Partin AW, Yoo J, Carter HB, Pearson JD, Chan DW, Epstein JI, et al. The use of prostate specific antigen, clinical stage and Gleason score to predict pathological stage in men with localized prostate cancer. J Urol. 1993; 150(1):110–4.
- 75. Eifler JB, Feng Z, Lin BM, Partin MT, Humphreys EB, Han M, et al. An updated prostate cancer staging nomogram (Partin tables) based on cases from 2006 to 2011. BJU Int. 2013; 111(1):22–9.
- 76. Briganti A, Chun FK-H, Salonia A, Zanni G, Scattoni V, Valiquette L, et al. Validation of a nomogram predicting the probability of lymph node invasion among patients undergoing radical prostatectomy and an extended pelvic lymphadenectomy. Eur Urol. 2006; 49(6):1019–26; discussion 1026–7.
- 77. Briganti A, Larcher A, Abdollah F, Capitanio U, Gallina A, Suardi N, et al. Updated nomogram predicting lymph node invasion in patients with prostate cancer undergoing extended pelvic lymph node dissection: the essential importance of percentage of positive cores. Eur Urol. 2012; 61(3):480–7.
- 78. Hansen J, Rink M, Bianchi M, Kluth L a, Tian Z, Ahyai S a, et al. External validation of the updated Briganti nomogram to predict lymph node invasion in prostate cancer patients undergoing extended lymph node dissection. Prostate. 2013; 73(2):211–8.
- 79. Walz J, Bladou F, Rousseau B, Laroche J, Salem N, Gravis G, et al. Head to head comparison of nomograms predicting probability of lymph node invasion of prostate cancer in patients undergoing extended pelvic lymph node dissection. Urology. 2012; 79(3):546–51.
- Lughezzani G, Zorn KC, Budäus L, Sun M, Lee DI, Shalhav AL, et al. Comparison of three different tools for prediction of seminal vesicle invasion at radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol. 2012; 62(4):590–6.
- 81. Tiguert R, Gheiler EL, Tefilli M V, Oskanian P, Banerjee M, Grignon DJ, et al. Lymph node size does not correlate with the presence of prostate cancer metastasis. Urology. 1999; 53(2):367–71.
- 82. Briganti A, Abdollah F, Nini A, Suardi N, Gallina A, Capitanio U, et al. Performance characteristics of computed tomography in detecting lymph node metastases in contemporary patients with prostate cancer treated with extended pelvic lymph node dissection. Eur Urol. 2012; 61(6):1132–8.

- 83. Saokar A, Islam T, Jantsch M, Saksena M a, Hahn PF, Harisinghani MG. Detection of lymph nodes in pelvic malignancies with Computed Tomography and Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Clin Imaging. 2010; 34(5):361–6.
- 84. Thoeny HC, Froehlich JM, Triantafyllou M, Huesler J, Bains LJ, Vermathen P, et al. Metastases in Normal-sized Pelvic Lymph Nodes: Detection with Diffusionweighted MR Imaging. Radiology. (2014), In press http://dx.doi.org/10.1148/radiol.14132921.
- 85. Harisinghani MG, Barentsz J, Hahn PF, Deserno WM, Tabatabaei S, van De Kaa CH, et al. Noninvasive detection of clinically occult lymph-node metastases in prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003; 348(25):2491–9.
- 86. Heesakkers RA, Hövels AM, Jager GJ, van Den Bosch HC, Witjes JA, Raat HP, et al. MRI with a lymph-node-specific contrast agent as an alternative to CT scan and lymph-node dissection in patients with prostate cancer: a prospective multicohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2008; 9(9):850–6.
- 87. Lecouvet FE, Geukens D, Stainier A, Jamar F, Jamart J, D'Othée BJ, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of the axial skeleton for detecting bone metastases in patients with high-risk prostate cancer: diagnostic and cost-effectiveness and comparison with current detection strategies. J Clin Oncol. 2007; 25(22):3281–7.
- 88. Even-Sapir E, Metser U, Mishani E, Lievshitz G, Lerman H, Leibovitch I. The detection of bone metastases in patients with high-risk prostate cancer: 99mTc-MDP Planar bone scintigraphy, single- and multi-field-of-view SPECT, 18F-fluoride PET, and 18F-fluoride PET/CT. J Nucl Med. 2006; 47(2):287–97.
- 89. Johnstone P a, Tarman GJ, Riffenburgh R, Rohde DC, Puckett ML, Kane CJ. Yield of imaging and scintigraphy assessing biochemical failure in prostate cancer patients. Urol Oncol. 1998; 3(4):108–12.
- 90. Kane CJ, Amling CL, Johnstone PAS, Pak N, Lance RS, Thrasher JB, et al. Limited value of bone scintigraphy and computed tomography in assessing biochemical failure after radical prostatectomy. Urology. 2003; 61(3):607–11.
- 91. Gomez P, Manoharan M, Kim SS, Soloway MS. Radionuclide bone scintigraphy in patients with biochemical recurrence after radical prostatectomy: when is it indicated? BJU Int. 2004; 94(3):299–302.
- Petronis JD, Regan F, Lin K. Indium-111 capromab pendetide (ProstaScint) imaging to detect recurrent and metastatic prostate cancer. Clin Nucl Med. 1998; 23(10):672– 7.
- 93. Schuster DM, Nieh PT, Jani AB, Amzat R, Bowman FD, Halkar RK, et al. Anti-3-[(18)F]FACBC positron emission tomography-computerized tomography and (111)In-capromab pendetide single photon emission computerized tomographycomputerized tomography for recurrent prostate carcinoma: results of a prospective clinical trial. J Urol. 2014; 191(5):1446–53.
- 94. Effert PJ, Bares R, Handt S, Wolff JM, Büll U, Jakse G. Metabolic imaging of untreated prostate cancer by positron emission tomography with 18fluorine-labeled deoxyglucose. J Urol. 1996; 155(3):994–8.
- 95. Hofer C, Laubenbacher C, Block T, Breul J, Hartung R, Schwaiger M. Fluorine-18fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography is useless for the detection of local recurrence after radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol. 1999; 36(1):31–5.

- 96. Kato T, Tsukamoto E, Kuge Y, Takei T, Shiga T, Shinohara N, et al. Accumulation of [11C]acetate in normal prostate and benign prostatic hyperplasia: comparison with prostate cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2002; 29(11):1492–5.
- 97. Kotzerke J, Volkmer BG, Neumaier B, Gschwend JE, Hautmann RE, Reske SN. Carbon-11 acetate positron emission tomography can detect local recurrence of prostate cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2002; 29(10):1380–4.
- 98. Fricke E, Machtens S, Hofmann M, van den Hoff J, Bergh S, Brunkhorst T, et al. Positron emission tomography with 11C-acetate and 18F-FDG in prostate cancer patients. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2003; 30(4):607–11.
- 99. Kotzerke J, Volkmer BG, Glatting G, van den Hoff J, Gschwend JE, Messer P, et al. Intraindividual comparison of [11C]acetate and [11C]choline PET for detection of metastases of prostate cancer. Nuklearmedizin. 2003; 42(1):25–30.
- 100. Matthies A, Ezziddin S, Ulrich E-M, Palmedo H, Biersack H-J, Bender H, et al. Imaging of prostate cancer metastases with 18F-fluoroacetate using PET/CT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2004; 31(5):797.
- 101. Sandblom G, Sörensen J, Lundin N, Häggman M, Malmström P-U. Positron emission tomography with C11-acetate for tumor detection and localization in patients with prostate-specific antigen relapse after radical prostatectomy. Urology. 2006; 67(5):996–1000.
- 102. Wachter S, Tomek S, Kurtaran A, Wachter-Gerstner N, Djavan B, Becherer A, et al. 11C-acetate positron emission tomography imaging and image fusion with computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in patients with recurrent prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006; 24(16):2513–9.
- 103. Lindhe O, Sun A, Ulin J, Rahman O, Långström B, Sörensen J. [(18)F]Fluoroacetate is not a functional analogue of [(11)C]acetate in normal physiology. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2009; 36(9):1453–9.
- Blau M, Nagler W, Bender MA. Fluorine-18: a new isotope for bone scanning. J Nucl Med. 1962; 3:332–4.
- 105. Schirrmeister H, Guhlmann A, Elsner K, Kotzerke J, Glatting G, Rentschler M, et al. Sensitivity in detecting osseous lesions depends on anatomic localization: planar bone scintigraphy versus 18F PET. J Nucl Med. 1999; 40(10):1623–9.
- 106. Even-Sapir E, Metser U, Flusser G, Zuriel L, Kollender Y, Lerman H, et al. Assessment of malignant skeletal disease: initial experience with 18F-fluoride PET/CT and comparison between 18F-fluoride PET and 18F-fluoride PET/CT. J Nucl Med. 2004; 45(2):272–8.
- 107. Thie JA. Understanding the standardized uptake value, its methods, and implications for usage. J Nucl Med. 2004; 45(9):1431–4.
- 108. Thompson I, Thrasher JB, Aus G, Burnett AL, Canby-Hagino ED, Cookson MS, et al. Guideline for the management of clinically localized prostate cancer: 2007 update. J Urol. 2007; 177(6):2106–31.
- 109. Heidenreich A, Bastian PJ, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Joniau S, van der Kwast T, et al. EAU guidelines on prostate cancer. part 1: screening, diagnosis, and local treatment with curative intent-update 2013. Eur Urol. 2014; 65(1):124–37.

- 110. Mattei A, Fuechsel FG, Bhatta Dhar N, Warncke SH, Thalmann GN, Krause T, et al. The template of the primary lymphatic landing sites of the prostate should be revisited: results of a multimodality mapping study. Eur Urol. 2008; 53(1):118–25.
- 111. Paul DB, Loening SA, Narayana AS, Culp DA. Morbidity from pelvic lymphadenectomy in staging carcinoma of the prostate. J Urol. 1983; 129(6):1141–4.
- 112. Bratt O, Elfving P, Flodgren P, Lundgren R. Morbidity of pelvic lymphadenectomy, radical retropubic prostatectomy and external radiotherapy in patients with localised prostatic cancer. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 1994; 28(3):265–71.
- 113. Briganti A, Chun FK-H, Salonia A, Suardi N, Gallina A, Da Pozzo LF, et al. Complications and other surgical outcomes associated with extended pelvic lymphadenectomy in men with localized prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2006; 50(5):1006–13.
- 114. Lindberg C, Davidsson T, Gudjónsson S, Hilmarsson R, Liedberg F, Bratt O. Extended pelvic lymphadenectomy for prostate cancer: will the previously reported benefits be reproduced in hospitals with lower surgical volumes? Scand J Urol Nephrol. 2009; 43(6):437–41.
- Stone NN, Stock RG, Unger P. Laparoscopic pelvic lymph node dissection for prostate cancer: comparison of the extended and modified techniques. J Urol. 1997; 158(5):1891–4.
- 116. Liedberg F, Kjölhede H, Sundqvist P. Laparoscopic extended pelvic lymphadenectomy for staging can be performed with limited morbidity and short hospital stay in patients with prostate cancer. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 2012; 46(5):332–6.
- 117. Mattei A, Di Pierro GB, Grande P, Beutler J, Danuser H. Standardized and simplified extended pelvic lymph node dissection during robot-assisted radical prostatectomy: the monoblock technique. Urology. 2013; 81(2):446–50.
- 118. Liss M a, Palazzi K, Stroup SP, Jabaji R, Raheem O a, Kane CJ. Outcomes and complications of pelvic lymph node dissection during robotic-assisted radical prostatectomy. World J Urol. 2013; 31(3):481–8.
- 119. Schwerfeld-Bohr J, Kaemper M, Krege S, Heidenreich A. 747 Prospective randomized multicenter study comparing limited vs extended pelvic lymphadenectomy in intermediate and high risk prostate cancer – first descriptive results (SEAL, AUO AP 55/09). Eur Urol Suppl. 2014; 13(1):e747.
- 120. Morton DL, Wen DR, Wong JH, Economou JS, Cagle LA, Storm FK, et al. Technical details of intraoperative lymphatic mapping for early stage melanoma. Arch Surg. 1992; 127(4):392–9.
- 121. Van der Veen H, Hoekstra OS, Paul M a, Cuesta M a, Meijer S. Gamma probeguided sentinel node biopsy to select patients with melanoma for lymphadenectomy. Br J Surg. 1994; 81(12):1769–70.
- 122. Farshid G, Pradhan M, Kollias J, Gill PG. Computer simulations of lymph node metastasis for optimizing the pathologic examination of sentinel lymph nodes in patients with breast carcinoma. Cancer. 2000; 89(12):2527–37.
- De Jong IJ, Pruim J, Elsinga PH, Vaalburg W, Mensink HJ. Preoperative staging of pelvic lymph nodes in prostate cancer by 11C-choline PET. J Nucl Med. 2003; 44(3):331–5.

- 124. Kotzerke J, Prang J, Neumaier B, Volkmer B, Guhlmann A, Kleinschmidt K, et al. Experience with carbon-11 choline positron emission tomography in prostate carcinoma. Eur J Nucl Med. 2000; 27(9):1415–9.
- 125. Yoshida S, Nakagomi K, Goto S, Futatsubashi M, Torizuka T. 11C-choline positron emission tomography in prostate cancer: primary staging and recurrent site staging. Urol Int. 2005; 74(3):214–20.
- 126. Häcker A, Jeschke S, Leeb K, Prammer K, Ziegerhofer J, Sega W, et al. Detection of pelvic lymph node metastases in patients with clinically localized prostate cancer: comparison of [18F]fluorocholine positron emission tomography-computerized tomography and laparoscopic radioisotope guided sentinel lymph node dissection. J Urol. 2006; 176(5):2014–8; discussion 2018–9.
- 127. Eschmann SM, Pfannenberg AC, Rieger A, Aschoff P, Müller M, Paulsen F, et al. Comparison of 11C-choline-PET/CT and whole body-MRI for staging of prostate cancer. Nuklearmedizin. 2007; 46(5):161–8; quiz N47–8.
- 128. Picchio M, Messa C, Landoni C, Gianolli L, Sironi S, Brioschi M, et al. Value of [11C]choline-positron emission tomography for re-staging prostate cancer: a comparison with [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography. J Urol. 2003; 169(4):1337–40.
- 129. De Jong IJ, Pruim J, Elsinga PH, Vaalburg W, Mensink HJA. 11C-choline positron emission tomography for the evaluation after treatment of localized prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2003; 44(1):32–8; discussion 38–9.
- Heinisch M, Dirisamer A, Loidl W, Stoiber F, Gruy B, Haim S, et al. Positron emission tomography/computed tomography with F-18-fluorocholine for restaging of prostate cancer patients: meaningful at PSA < 5 ng/ml? Mol Imaging Biol. 2006; 8(1):43–8.
- 131. Cimitan M, Bortolus R, Morassut S, Canzonieri V, Garbeglio A, Baresic T, et al. [18F]fluorocholine PET/CT imaging for the detection of recurrent prostate cancer at PSA relapse: experience in 100 consecutive patients. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2006; 33(12):1387–98.
- 132. Rinnab L, Mottaghy FM, Blumstein NM, Reske SN, Hautmann RE, Hohl K, et al. Evaluation of [11C]-choline positron-emission/computed tomography in patients with increasing prostate-specific antigen levels after primary treatment for prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2007; 100(4):786–93.
- 133. Vees H, Buchegger F, Albrecht S, Khan H, Husarik D, Zaidi H, et al. 18F-choline and/or 11C-acetate positron emission tomography: detection of residual or progressive subclinical disease at very low prostate-specific antigen values (<1 ng/mL) after radical prostatectomy. BJU Int. 2007; 99(6):1415–20.
- 134. Scattoni V, Picchio M, Suardi N, Messa C, Freschi M, Roscigno M, et al. Detection of lymph-node metastases with integrated [11C]choline PET/CT in patients with PSA failure after radical retropubic prostatectomy: results confirmed by open pelvic-retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy. Eur Urol. 2007; 52(2):423–9.
- Even-Sapir E, Mishani E, Flusser G, Metser U. 18F-Fluoride positron emission tomography and positron emission tomography/computed tomography. Semin Nucl Med. 2007; 37(6):462–9.

- 136. Wawroschek F, Vogt H, Weckermann D, Wagner T, Hamm M, Harzmann R. Radioisotope guided pelvic lymph node dissection for prostate cancer. J Urol. 2001; 166(5):1715–9.
- Corvin S, Schilling D, Eichhorn K, Hundt I, Hennenlotter J, Anastasiadis AG, et al. Laparoscopic sentinel lymph node dissection--a novel technique for the staging of prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2006; 49(2):280–5.
- 138. Kryza D, Tadino V, Filannino MA, Villeret G, Lemoucheux L. Fully automated [18F]fluorocholine synthesis in the TracerLab MX FDG Coincidence synthesizer. Nucl Med Biol. 2008; 35(2):255–60.
- Heidenreich A, Ohlmann CH, Polyakov S. Anatomical extent of pelvic lymphadenectomy in patients undergoing radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol. 2007; 52(1):29–37.
- 140. Schiavina R, Scattoni V, Castellucci P, Picchio M, Corti B, Briganti A, et al. 11Ccholine positron emission tomography/computerized tomography for preoperative lymph-node staging in intermediate-risk and high-risk prostate cancer: comparison with clinical staging nomograms. Eur Urol. 2008; 54(2):392–401.
- 141. Husarik DB, Miralbell R, Dubs M, John H, Giger OT, Gelet A, et al. Evaluation of [(18)F]-choline PET/CT for staging and restaging of prostate cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2008; 35(2):253–63.
- 142. Beheshti M, Imamovic L, Broinger G, Vali R, Waldenberger P, Stoiber F, et al. 18F choline PET/CT in the preoperative staging of prostate cancer in patients with intermediate or high risk of extracapsular disease: a prospective study of 130 patients. Radiology. 2010; 254(3):925–33.
- 143. Langsteger W, Balogova S, Huchet V, Beheshti M, Paycha F, Egrot C, et al. Fluorocholine (18F) and sodium fluoride (18F) PET/CT in the detection of prostate cancer: prospective comparison of diagnostic performance determined by masked reading. Q J Nucl Med Mol imaging Off Publ Ital Assoc Nucl Med [and] Int Assoc Radiopharmacol (IAR), [and] Sect Soc Radiopharm. 2011; 55(4):448–57.
- 144. Contractor K, Challapalli A, Barwick T, Winkler M, Hellawell G, Hazell S, et al. Use of [11C]choline PET-CT as a noninvasive method for detecting pelvic lymph node status from prostate cancer and relationship with choline kinase expression. Clin Cancer Res. 2011; 17(24):7673–83.
- 145. Budiharto T, Joniau S, Lerut E, Van den Bergh L, Mottaghy F, Deroose CM, et al. Prospective evaluation of (11)c-choline positron emission tomography/computed tomography and diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging for the nodal staging of prostate cancer with a high risk of lymph node metastases. Eur Urol. 2011; 60(1):125–30.
- 146. Poulsen MH, Bouchelouche K, Høilund-Carlsen PF, Petersen H, Gerke O, Steffansen SI, et al. [18F]fluoromethylcholine (FCH) positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT) for lymph node staging of prostate cancer: a prospective study of 210 patients. BJU Int. 2012; 110(11):1666–71.
- 147. Steuber T, Schlomm T, Heinzer H, Zacharias M, Ahyai S, Chun KF, et al. [F(18)]fluoroethylcholine combined in-line PET-CT scan for detection of lymph-node metastasis in high risk prostate cancer patients prior to radical prostatectomy: Preliminary results from a prospective histology-based study. Eur J Cancer. 2010; 46(2):449–55.

- 148. Bastide C, Brenot-Rossi I, Garcia S, Rossi D. Radioisotope guided sentinel lymph node dissection in patients with localized prostate cancer: results of the first 100 cases. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009; 35(7):751–6.
- 149. Warncke SH, Mattei A, Fuechsel FG, Z'Brun S, Krause T, Studer UE. Detection rate and operating time required for gamma probe-guided sentinel lymph node resection after injection of technetium-99m nanocolloid into the prostate with and without preoperative imaging. Eur Urol. 2007; 52(1):126–32.
- 150. Fukuda M, Egawa M, Imao T, Takashima H, Yokoyama K, Namiki M. Detection of sentinel node micrometastasis by step section and immunohistochemistry in patients with prostate cancer. J Urol. 2007; 177(4):1313–7; discussion 1317.
- 151. Weckermann D, Dorn R, Holl G, Wagner T, Harzmann R. Limitations of radioguided surgery in high-risk prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2007; 51(6):1549–56; discussion 1556–8.
- 152. Weckermann D, Dorn R, Trefz M, Wagner T, Wawroschek F, Harzmann R. Sentinel lymph node dissection for prostate cancer: experience with more than 1,000 patients. J Urol. 2007; 177(3):916–20.
- 153. Jeschke S, Beri A, Grüll M, Ziegerhofer J, Prammer P, Leeb K, et al. Laparoscopic radioisotope-guided sentinel lymph node dissection in staging of prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2008; 53(1):126–32.
- 154. Meinhardt W, Valdés Olmos R a, van der Poel HG, Bex A, Horenblas S. Laparoscopic sentinel node dissection for prostate carcinoma: technical and anatomical observations. BJU Int. 2008; 102(6):714–7.
- 155. Holl G, Dorn R, Wengenmair H, Weckermann D, Sciuk J. Validation of sentinel lymph node dissection in prostate cancer: experience in more than 2,000 patients. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2009; 36(9):1377–82.
- 156. Rousseau C, Rousseau T, Campion L, Lacoste J, Aillet G, Potiron E, et al. Laparoscopic sentinel lymph node versus hyperextensive pelvic dissection for staging clinically localized prostate carcinoma: a prospective study of 200 patients. J Nucl Med. 2014; 55(5):753–8.
- 157. Krause BJ, Souvatzoglou M, Tuncel M, Herrmann K, Buck AK, Praus C, et al. The detection rate of [11C]choline-PET/CT depends on the serum PSA-value in patients with biochemical recurrence of prostate cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2008; 35(1):18–23.
- Reske SN, Blumstein NM, Glatting G. [11C]choline PET/CT imaging in occult local relapse of prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2008; 35(1):9–17.
- 159. Pelosi E, Arena V, Skanjeti A, Pirro V, Douroukas A, Pupi A, et al. Role of wholebody 18F-choline PET/CT in disease detection in patients with biochemical relapse after radical treatment for prostate cancer. Radiol Med. 2008; 113(6):895–904.
- Rinnab L, Simon J, Hautmann RE, Cronauer M V, Hohl K, Buck AK, et al. [(11)C]choline PET/CT in prostate cancer patients with biochemical recurrence after radical prostatectomy. World J Urol. 2009; 27(5):619–25.
- Castellucci P, Fuccio C, Nanni C, Santi I, Rizzello A, Lodi F, et al. Influence of trigger PSA and PSA kinetics on 11C-Choline PET/CT detection rate in patients with biochemical relapse after radical prostatectomy. J Nucl Med. 2009; 50(9):1394–400.

- 162. Rioja Zuazu J, Rodríguez M, Rincón Mayans A, Sansi AS, Zudaire Bergera JJ, Martínez-Monge R, et al. [Usefulness of PET scans in diagnosing recurrent prostate cancer. Prostate with PSA level < 5 ng/ml]. Actas Urol españolas. 2009; 33(8):844– 52.
- 163. Giovacchini G, Picchio M, Coradeschi E, Bettinardi V, Gianolli L, Scattoni V, et al. Predictive factors of [(11)C]choline PET/CT in patients with biochemical failure after radical prostatectomy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2010; 37(2):301–9.
- 164. Bertagna F, Abuhilal M, Bosio G, Simeone C, Rossini P, Pizzocaro C, et al. Role of ¹¹C-choline positron emission tomography/computed tomography in evaluating patients affected by prostate cancer with suspected relapse due to prostate-specific antigen elevation. Jpn J Radiol. 2011; 29(6):394–404.
- 165. Castellucci P, Fuccio C, Rubello D, Schiavina R, Santi I, Nanni C, et al. Is there a role for ¹¹C-choline PET/CT in the early detection of metastatic disease in surgically treated prostate cancer patients with a mild PSA increase <1.5 ng/ml? Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2011; 38(1):55–63.
- 166. Graute V, Jansen N, Ubleis C, Seitz M, Hartenbach M, Scherr MK, et al. Relationship between PSA kinetics and [18F]fluorocholine PET/CT detection rates of recurrence in patients with prostate cancer after total prostatectomy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2012; 39(2):271–82.
- 167. Fuccio C, Castellucci P, Schiavina R, Guidalotti PL, Gavaruzzi G, Montini GC, et al. Role of 11C-choline PET/CT in the re-staging of prostate cancer patients with biochemical relapse and negative results at bone scintigraphy. Eur J Radiol. 2012; 81(8):e893–6.
- 168. Schillaci O, Calabria F, Tavolozza M, Caracciolo CR, Finazzi Agrò E, Miano R, et al. Influence of PSA, PSA velocity and PSA doubling time on contrast-enhanced 18F-choline PET/CT detection rate in patients with rising PSA after radical prostatectomy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2012; 39(4):589–96.
- 169. Panebianco V, Sciarra A, Lisi D, Galati F, Buonocore V, Catalano C, et al. Prostate cancer: 1HMRS-DCEMR at 3T versus [(18)F]choline PET/CT in the detection of local prostate cancer recurrence in men with biochemical progression after radical retropubic prostatectomy (RRP). Eur J Radiol. 2012; 81(4):700–8.
- 170. Rybalov M, Breeuwsma AJ, Leliveld AM, Pruim J, Dierckx RA, de Jong IJ. Impact of total PSA, PSA doubling time and PSA velocity on detection rates of 11C-Choline positron emission tomography in recurrent prostate cancer. World J Urol. 2013; 31(2):319–23.
- 171. Detti B, Scoccianti S, Franceschini D, Cipressi S, Cassani S, Villari D, et al. Predictive factors of [18F]-Choline PET/CT in 170 patients with increasing PSA after primary radical treatment. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2013; 139(3):521–8.
- 172. Nanni C, Schiavina R, Brunocilla E, Borghesi M, Ambrosini V, Zanoni L, et al. 18F-FACBC Compared With 11C-Choline PET/CT in Patients With Biochemical Relapse After Radical Prostatectomy: A Prospective Study in 28 Patients. Clin Genitourin Cancer. (2013), In press http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clgc.2013.08.002.
- 173. Mitchell CR, Lowe VJ, Rangel LJ, Hung JC, Kwon ED, Karnes RJ. Operational characteristics of (11)c-choline positron emission tomography/computerized tomography for prostate cancer with biochemical recurrence after initial treatment. J Urol. 2013; 189(4):1308–13.

- 174. Giovacchini G, Picchio M, Garcia-Parra R, Mapelli P, Briganti A, Montorsi F, et al. [11C]choline positron emission tomography/computerized tomography for early detection of prostate cancer recurrence in patients with low increasing prostate specific antigen. J Urol. 2013; 189(1):105–10.
- 175. Afshar-Oromieh A, Zechmann CM, Malcher A, Eder M, Eisenhut M, Linhart HG, et al. Comparison of PET imaging with a (68)Ga-labelled PSMA ligand and (18)F-choline-based PET/CT for the diagnosis of recurrent prostate cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2014; 41(1):11–20.
- 176. Castellucci P, Ceci F, Graziani T, Schiavina R, Brunocilla E, Mazzarotto R, et al. Early Biochemical Relapse After Radical Prostatectomy: Which Prostate Cancer Patients May Benefit from a Restaging 11C-Choline PET/CT Scan Before Salvage Radiation Therapy? J Nucl Med. 2014; 55(9):1424–9.
- 177. Dost RJ, Glaudemans AWJM, Breeuwsma AJ, de Jong IJ. Influence of androgen deprivation therapy on choline PET/CT in recurrent prostate cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2013; 40 Suppl 1:S41–7.
- 178. Tilki D, Reich O, Graser A, Hacker M, Silchinger J, Becker AJ, et al. 18F-Fluoroethylcholine PET/CT identifies lymph node metastasis in patients with prostate-specific antigen failure after radical prostatectomy but underestimates its extent. Eur Urol. 2013; 63(5):792–6.
- 179. Suardi N, Gandaglia G, Gallina A, Di Trapani E, Scattoni V, Vizziello D, et al. Long-term Outcomes of Salvage Lymph Node Dissection for Clinically Recurrent Prostate Cancer: Results of a Single-institution Series with a Minimum Follow-up of 5 Years. Eur Urol. (2014), In press http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2014.02.011.
- Okotie OT, Aronson WJ, Wieder JA, Liao Y, Dorey F, DeKernion JB, et al. Predictors of metastatic disease in men with biochemical failure following radical prostatectomy. J Urol. 2004; 171(6 Pt 1):2260–4.
- Schumacher MC, Burkhard FC, Thalmann GN, Fleischmann A, Studer UE. Good outcome for patients with few lymph node metastases after radical retropubic prostatectomy. Eur Urol. 2008; 54(2):344–52.
- 182. Daneshmand S, Quek ML, Stein JP, Lieskovsky G, Cai J, Pinski J, et al. Prognosis of patients with lymph node positive prostate cancer following radical prostatectomy: long-term results. J Urol. 2004; 172(6 Pt 1):2252–5.
- 183. Wagner M, Sokoloff M, Daneshmand S. The role of pelvic lymphadenectomy for prostate cancer--therapeutic? J Urol. 2008; 179(2):408–13.
- 184. SBU. Bilddiagnostik vid stadieindelning av prostatacancer. 2014.
- 185. Schick U, Jorcano S, Nouet P, Rouzaud M, Vees H, Zilli T, et al. Androgen deprivation and high-dose radiotherapy for oligometastatic prostate cancer patients with less than five regional and/or distant metastases. Acta Oncol (Madr). 2013; 52(8):1622–8.
- 186. Decaestecker K, De Meerleer G, Ameye F, Fonteyne V, Lambert B, Joniau S, et al. Surveillance or metastasis-directed Therapy for OligoMetastatic Prostate cancer recurrence (STOMP): study protocol for a randomized phase II trial. BMC Cancer. 2014; 14(1):671.
- 187. Castellucci P, Jadvar H. PET/CT in prostate cancer: non-choline radiopharmaceuticals. Q J Nucl Med Mol imaging. 2012; 56(4):367–74.

- 188. Jeschke S, Lusuardi L, Myatt A, Hruby S, Pirich C, Janetschek G. Visualisation of the lymph node pathway in real time by laparoscopic radioisotope- and fluorescenceguided sentinel lymph node dissection in prostate cancer staging. Urology. 2012; 80(5):1080–6.
- 189. KleinJan GH, van den Berg NS, Brouwer OR, de Jong J, Acar C, Wit EM, et al. Optimisation of Fluorescence Guidance During Robot-assisted Laparoscopic Sentinel Node Biopsy for Prostate Cancer. Eur Urol. 2014; 31(0):1–8.
- 190. Winter A, Woenkhaus J, Wawroschek F. A Novel Method for Intraoperative Sentinel Lymph Node Detection in Prostate Cancer Patients Using Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide Nanoparticles and a Handheld Magnetometer: The Initial Clinical Experience. Ann Surg Oncol. (2014), In press http://dx.doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-4024-8.